
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA
 

Monday, May 2, 2016

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street
Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio and video feed is being broadcast and recorded by
CastaNet and a delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 6 - 13

PM Meeting - April 25, 2016

3. Committee Reports

3.1 Financial Statements for the Year Ending December 31, 2015 14 - 44

To present the Financial Statements to Council for acceptance per the
legislative requirement, to provide Council with a recommendation on the
contribution of $3,300,000 of surplus to reserves and to seek approval to
include the Financial Statements in the annual report.

4. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

4.1 330 Merrifield Road, Z16-0011 - Corey Knorr Construction Ltd. 45 - 53

To rezone the subject property from RU1 to RU2 to facilitate a 2-lot
subdivision.

4.2 330 Merrifield Road, BL11241 (Z16-0011) - Corey Knorr Construction Ltd. 54 - 54

To give Bylaw No. 11241 first reading in order to rezone the subject property
to faciltate a 2-lot subdivision.

4.3 845 Kinnear Court, Z15-0050 - Carol Kergan 55 - 67

To rezone the subject property to facilitate the conversion of an accessory
building to a carriage house on the subject parcel.
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4.4 845 Kinnear Court, BL11242 (Z15-0050) - Carol Kergan 68 - 68

To give Bylaw No. 11242 first reading in order to faciltate the conversion of an
accessory building to a carriage house on the subject parcel.

4.5 135 Mugford Road & 345 Rutland Road N, Z15-0059 - City of Kelowna 69 - 111

To rezone the subject properties to facilitate the redevelopment and adaptive
re-use of the heritage building and site.

4.6 135 Mugford Road & 345 Rutland Road N, BL11243 (Z15-0059) - City of Kelowna 112 - 112

To give Bylaw No. 11243 first reading in order to rezone the subject properties
to faciltate the redevelopment and adaptive re-use of the heritage building
and site.

4.7 820 Finns Road, OCP15-0016 & Z15-0053 - Raif Holdings Ltd. 113 - 122

To amend the Official Community Plan to change the future land use
designation and rezone the subject property to allow the lands to be used for
service commercial development.

4.8 820 Finns Road, BL11246 (OCP15-00016) - Raif Holdings Ltd. 123 - 124

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To give Bylaw No. 11246 first reading in order to change the future land use
designation of the subject property to allow the lands to be used for service
commercial development.

4.9 820 Finns Road, BL11247 (Z15-0053) Raif Holdings Ltd. 125 - 126

To give Bylaw No. 11247 first reading in order to rezone the subject property
to allow the lands to be used for service commerical development.

4.10 894 Stremel Road, OCP16-0001 & Z16-0006 - McBeetle Holdings 127 - 138

To consider an OCP and Zoning Bylaw amendment application to rezone a
portion of the subject property to facilitate the construction of an automobile
dealer, and dedicate a portion of the property as parkland.

5. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

5.1 Quarterly Report Update – Q1 2016 139 - 152

To provide Council with an update of the City’s activities for the first quarter
of 2016.

5.2 2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy 153 - 189

To seek Council approval and endorsement of the 2016-2019 Crime Reduction
Strategy.
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5.3 Amendment No. 2 to Development Cost Charge Bylaw No.10515 190 - 209

To inform Council about the outcome of the public open house.

5.4 BL11207 - Amendment No. 2 to Development Cost Charge Bylaw No. 10515 210 - 211

To give Bylaw No. 11207 second and third readings in order to amend the City
of Kelowna's Development Cost Charge Bylaw.

5.5 2016 Rental Housing Grant Bylaws 212 - 214

To consider Housing Agreements for the purpose-built rental housing projects
that were approved for rental housing grants, in accordance with Council
Policy No. 335.

5.6 125 Dundas Road, BL11234, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw - Unico
Developments Ltd.

215 - 222

To give Bylaw No. 11234 first, second and third readings in order to enter into
a Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement with Unico One Developments Ltd.

5.7 2065 Benvoulin Court, BL11235, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw -
National Society of Hope

223 - 231

To give Bylaw No. 11235 first, second and third readings in order to authorize
the City to enter into a Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement with the
Society of Hope.

5.8 1745 Chapman Place, BL11236, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw - Ki-
Low-Na Friendship Society

232 - 239

To give Bylaw No. 11236 first, second and third readings in order to authorize
the City to enter into a Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement with the Ki-
Low-Na Friendship Society.

5.9 1170 Highway 33 W, BL11237, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw -
Okanagan Metis & Aboriginal Housing Society

240 - 248

To give Bylaw No. 11237 first, second and third readings in order to authorize
the City to enter in to a Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement with the
Okanagan Mets &  Aboriginal Housing Society.

5.10 805 Academy Way, BL11238, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw - U
Three-Mission Group Rentals Ltd.

249 - 257

To give Bylaw No. 11238 first, second and third readings in order to authorize
the City to enter into a Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement with U Three -
Mission Group Rentals Ltd.
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5.11 305 Homer Road, BL11239, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw - Davara
Holdings Ltd.

258 - 266

To give Bylaw No. 11239 first, second and third readings in order to authorize
the City to enter into a Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement with Dvara
Holdings Ltd.

5.12 Concession Operation Bid Awards – Various Food & Activity 267 - 494

To endose the award of food vendor contracts for Lawrence Avenue, Leon
Avenue and Stuart Park; and a water activity concession contract for Gyro and
Rotary Beaches.

6. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

6.1 BL11210 - A Bylaw to Rename a Portion of Rutland Road North 495 - 496

To adopt Bylaw No. 11210 in order to rename of portion of Rutland Road
North.

6.2 BL11223 - Sterile Insect Release Program Parcel Tax Bylaw 2016 497 - 508

To adopt Bylaw No. 11223 in order to impose and levy a Parcel Tax upon the
owners of land or real property within the City of Kelowna being served by the
Sterile Insect Release Program.

6.3 BL11227 - Five Year Financial Plan 2016-2020 509 - 513

To adopt Bylaw No. 11227 in order to adopt the Five Year Financial Plan 2016-
2020.

6.4 BL11228 - Tax Structure Bylaw, 2016 514 - 514

To adopt Bylaw No. 11228 in order to adopt the Tax Structure for 2016.

6.5 BL11229 - Annual Tax Rates Bylaw, 2016 515 - 517

To adopt Bylaw No. 11229 in order to adopt the Annual Tax Rate for 2016.

6.6 BL11230 - DCC Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw, 2016 518 - 518

To adopt Bylaw No. 11230 in order to create the DCC Reserve Expenditures for
2016.

6.7 BL11231 - Sale of City-Owned Land Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw, 2016 519 - 519

To adopt Bylaw No. 11231 in order to create the Sale of City-Owned Land
Reserve Fund Expenditure for 2016.

7. Mayor and Councillor Items
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8. Termination
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For the year ended December 31, 2015

Kelowna, 
British Columbia

Canada

2015 Financial Statements
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Independent auditors’ report 

To the members of Council of the City of Kelowna 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the City of Kelowna (the 
“City”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015, and 
the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus, consolidated statement of changes 
in net financial assets and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditors’ responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the City of Kelowna as at December 31, 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 
 

Kelowna, Canada 

April 26, 2016 Chartered Professional Accountants  
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CITY OF KELOWNA

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2015
(in thousands of dollars)

2015 2014

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) $ 7,509            $ 59,907          

Accounts receivable (Note 4) 29,004          33,917          

Accrued interest 1,047            591               

Portfolio investments (Note 4) 352,398        247,797        

Long term investments (Note 11) 6,000            6,000            

Property held for resale 2,939            220               

398,897        348,432        

Liabilities

Accounts payable 42,308          39,333          

Performance deposits 8,786            8,422            

Deferred revenue (Note 4) 36,703          37,017          

Deferred development cost charges (Note 4) 10,984          18,149          

Long term debt  (Note 4) 136,183        105,611        

234,964        208,532        

Net Financial Assets 163,933 139,900

Non-Financial Assets

Prepaid expenses 1,939            2,392            

Inventory 1,152            1,220            

Work in progress (Note 5) 88,484          60,060          

Tangible capital assets (Note 5) 1,588,378     1,566,200     

1,679,953     1,629,872     

Accumulated Surplus (Note 6) $ 1,843,886     $ 1,769,772     

Contingent liabilities and Commitments (Notes 9 and 10)

Subsequent Event (Note 20)

Genelle Davidson, CPA, CMA Colin Basran

Financial Services Director Mayor, City of Kelowna

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF KELOWNA
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(in thousands of dollars)

Budget Actual Actual

2015 2015 2014

Revenue

Taxation (Note 7) $ 125,185        $ 125,188        $ 119,266        

Fees and charges 101,508        113,024        107,383        

Interest earned 5,400            8,979            8,438            

DCC contributions 17,143          22,576          18,000          

Government transfers (Note 8) 34,530          22,419          22,387          

Other capital contributions 316               34,102          14,649          
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets -                    -                    4,455            

284,082        326,288        294,578        

Expenses

General government services 26,932          22,973          22,792          

Protective services 51,892          53,696          49,810          

Transportation services 34,108          60,884          58,555          

Recreational and cultural services 33,781          41,319          42,583          

Other services 15,391          18,184          18,153          

Airport operations 12,886          17,435          16,814          

Natural Gas Legacy Services 2,915            4,506            4,509            

Wastewater utility 13,502          22,834          23,061          

Water utility 6,615            10,343          10,151          

198,022        252,174        246,428        

Annual Surplus $ 86,060          74,114          48,150          

Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year 1,769,772     1,721,622     

Accumulated Surplus, end of year $ 1,843,886     $ 1,769,772     

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF KELOWNA
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(in thousands of dollars)

Budget Actual Actual

2015 2015 2014

Annual Surplus $ 86,060       $ 74,114 $ 48,150            

Amortization of tangible capital assets -                 61,885 61,411            

Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets -                 926 8,274              

Loss (Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets -                 27 (4,455)

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (212,796) (113,440) (68,723)

Change in inventory and prepaid expenses -                 521 (1,131)

Increase (decrease) in Net Financial Assets (126,736) 24,033 43,526

Net Financial Assets, beginning of year 139,900 139,900 96,374

Net Financial Assets, end of year $ 13,164 $ 163,933 $ 139,900

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF KELOWNA

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

(in thousands of dollars)

Actual Actual

2015 2014

Net inflow (outflow) of cash and cash equivalents related to the following activities

Operating

Annual Surplus $ 74,114 $ 48,150

Adjustment for non-cash items

Amortization of tangible capital assets 61,885 61,411

Loss (Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 27 (4,455)

Actuarial adjustment on long term debt (4,389) (4,082)

Developer contributions of tangible capital assets (28,271) (8,344)

Decrease (increase) in 

Accounts receivable 4,913 (1,608)

Inventory and prepaid expenses 521 (1,131)

Other assets (3,175) 361

Increase (decrease) in 

Accounts payable 2,975 (1,420)

Deferred development cost charges (7,165) (5,869)

Other liabilities 50 1,735

101,485 84,748

Capital

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (85,169) (60,150)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 926 8,274              

(84,243) (51,876)

Investing

Change in investments (104,601) (30,259)

Financing

Proceeds from issuance of long term debt 42,500 345

Repayment of long term debt (7,539) (10,893)

34,961 (10,548)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (52,398) (7,935)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 59,907 67,842

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 7,509 $ 59,907

Supplemental cash flow information

Interest paid $ 9,494 $ 9,747

Non-cash capital activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets through developer contributions $ 28,271 $ 8,344

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2015 
(all tabular amounts reported in 000’s of dollars) 
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The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the statements.  They explain the significant accounting 

and reporting policies and principles underlying these statements.  They also provide relevant supplementary information and 

explanations which cannot be conveniently expressed in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

The consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of and prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public 

sector accounting standards (PSAS). The preparation of these consolidated financial statements necessarily involves the use of 

estimates based on management’s judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be 

finalized with certainty until future periods. 

 

1. Significant accounting policies 

 

 Basis of presentation 
 

The City of Kelowna's resources and operations are segregated into General, Airport, Wastewater Utility, Water Utility, 

Natural Gas Legacy, Development Cost Charges and Statutory Reserve Funds for accounting and financial reporting 

purposes.  The consolidated financial statements include all the accounts of these funds. All material interfund transactions 

and balances have been eliminated within the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 The City of Kelowna Library Society is controlled by the City of Kelowna through its appointment of the members of the 

Society. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements include all the accounts of the Society. 

 

 Accrual accounting 

 

 The accrual method for reporting revenues and expenses has been used. 

 

Property held for resale 

 

Property held for sale are those expected to be sold within one year. They are valued at the lower of cost or expected net 

realizable value. Cost includes amounts for improvements to prepare the property for sale. 

 

Inventory 
 

 Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, determined principally on a weighted average and specific item basis, or 

replacement cost.  

 

Work in progress 
 

 Work in progress represents capital projects under construction but not yet completed and are valued at cost. 

 

Tangible capital assets  
 

 The City records tangible capital assets, including assets held as work in progress or capital lease, at cost in the period they 

were acquired or when the asset is put into use.  

 

All tangible capital assets are valued at cost which includes all costs directly attributable to acquisition, construction, 

development or betterment of the tangible capital asset.   

 

Assets owned by the City but not paid for by the City including contributions, dedications, gifts and donations, are valued 

at fair value at the date of contribution, dedication, gift or donation, where fair value is reasonably determinable. 

 

Contributions of tangible capital assets 

 
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair market value.   
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2015 
(all tabular amounts reported in 000’s of dollars) 
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Amortization 
 

The cost less residual value of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the 

asset as follows:   

 

 

Asset Type Useful 

Life

Years

Asset Type

Useful Life

Years

Parks infrastructure Vehicles

Playground equipment  15 - 20 Cars and light trucks   5 - 10

Artificial turf field  10 - 12 Fire trucks  15 - 20

Washrooms, concessions, picnic shelters  40 - 50 IT infrastructure

Outdoor pools, spray pools  50 - 60 Hardware   4 - 5

Building structure  40 - 75 Software   5 - 10

Building improvements Telephone system   7 - 10

Exterior envelope  30 - 40 Infrastructue

HVAC systems  10 - 12 (dependent upon component and material)

Roofs  15 - 20 Electrical  20 - 25

Electrical, plumbing and fire  15 - 20 Water  10 - 100

Site works - asphalt, water and sewer lines, etc  10 - 100 Wastewater  10 - 100

Machinery & equipment Drainage  10 - 100

General equipment   7 - 10 Transporation  10 - 100

Grounds equipment and machinery  10 - 15

Heavy construction equipment   5 - 10  
 

Land and Work in Progress are not amortized. 

 

Intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets include works of art and historic assets located throughout the City. They are not reflected in these 

consolidated financial statements. 

 
Interest capitalization 

 

The City of Kelowna only capitalizes interest on projects being financed internally which will require debenture borrowing 

upon completion.  Interest is calculated on monthly expenditures at the bank prime rate less 2%.   

 

Municipal Finance Authority cash deposits and demand notes 
 

 The City issues the majority of its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority. As a condition of these 

borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds is withheld by the Municipal Finance Authority as a debt reserve fund. 

The City also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture whereby the City may be required to loan certain 

amounts to the Municipal Finance Authority. These demand notes are contingent in nature.  The Debt Reserve and Demand 

Note balances are as follows: 

2015 2014

Cash Deposits held by MFA $         3,137 $         2,642 

Demand Notes held by MFA         8,674         7,576 

$       11,811 $       10,218 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2015 
(all tabular amounts reported in 000’s of dollars) 
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Reserves for future expenditures 
 

 Reserves for future expenditures are non-statutory reserves which represent an appropriation of surplus for specific 

purposes. Transfers to reserves for future expenditures include funds to finance incomplete projects and accumulations for 

specific purposes. 
 

Statutory reserve funds  
 

 The use of these funds is restricted by the Community Charter and associated Municipal Bylaws.  Statutory reserve funds 

are funded 100% by cash and portfolio investments. 

 

 Revenue recognition 
 

Taxation revenue 
 

Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general administrative services are recorded as taxes for municipal 

purposes. Levies imposed by other taxing authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. Taxes are 

recognized as revenue in the year they are levied.  

 

Through the BC Assessment appeal process taxes may be adjusted by way of supplementary roll adjustments. The affects 

of these adjustments on taxes are recognized at the time they are awarded. 

 

Fees and charges revenue 
 

Charges for transportation, environmental health, building permits, water, wastewater, natural gas and airport are included 

in this category. These revenues are recorded on the accrual basis and recognized as earned which is usually when services 

are provided or facilities are utilized. 

 

DCC contributions 
 

DCCs are recognized as revenue during the period in which the related costs are incurred.   

 

Government transfers 
 

Government transfers are recognized as revenue in the period that the transfer is authorized, eligibility criteria, if any, have 

been met by the City, and a reasonable estimate of the amount to be received can be made. 

 

Investment income 
 

The City’s investments are disclosed in Note 4. 

 

Investment income is recorded on the accrual basis and recognized when earned. 

 

A portion of the City’s investments are invested in pooled funds of the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia. 

Earnings on these funds are allocated to the members from time to time based on the market value of the pool. The City 

recognizes only its share of the realized earnings of the pool. This revenue is recorded as investment income and the 

amount is added to the cost of the units held. 

 

To the extent that investments have no stated rate of return, investment income is recognized as it is received. 

 

Expenses 
 

 Expenses are recorded in the period in which the goods or services are acquired and a liability is incurred. 

 

 Use of estimates 
 

 Management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in preparing these financial statements. 

Actual results could differ from the estimates. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the 

determination of tangible capital assets estimated useful life and related amortization, landfill post closure costs and 

settlement costs associated with outstanding legal actions.   
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2015 
(all tabular amounts reported in 000’s of dollars) 
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2.   Adoption of new accounting policy 

 
Effective April 1, 2014, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued Section 3260 Liability for contaminated sites.  This Section 

establishes standards on how to account for and report a liability associated with the remediation of contaminated sites.  A 

liability should be recognized when: 

 an environmental standard exists,  

 contamination exceeds the environmental standard,  

 the Government is directly responsible or accepts responsibility,  

 it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and  

 a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.   

 

The City adopted this standard on a retroactive basis and there were no adjustments as a result of the adoption of this standard. 

 
 

3. Future accounting changes 
 

PS 2200 – Related party transactions 
 

This new Section defines a related party and establishes disclosures required for related party transactions. Disclosure of 

information about related party transactions and the relationship underlying them is required when they have occurred at a 

value different from that which would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated. This Section applies to fiscal years 

beginning on or after April 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. 
 

PS 3420 – Inter-entity transactions 
 

This section establishes how to account for and report transactions between public sector entities that comprise a 

government’s reporting entity from both a provider and recipient perspective. This Section applies to fiscal years beginning 

on or after April 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. 

 

PS 3210 – Assets 

 

This new section provides guidance for applying the definition of an asset as set out in Section PS 1000 Financial statement 

concepts and establishes general disclosure standards for assets.  This section applies to fiscal years beginning on or after 

April 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. 

 

PS 3320 – Contingent assets 

 

This new section defines and establishes disclosure standards for contingent assets. This section applies to fiscal years 

beginning on or after April 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. 

 

PS 3380 – Contractual rights 

This new section defines and establishes disclosure standards on contractual rights. This section applies to fiscal years 

beginning on or after April 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. 

 

PS 2601 – Foreign currency translation 
 

This section revises and replaces the existing Section PS 2600 Foreign currency translation. This section applies to fiscal 

years beginning on or after April 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. 
 

PS 1201 – Financial statement presentation 
 

This section revises and replaces the existing Section PS 1200 Financial statement presentation. This section applies to 

fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. 
 

PS 3450 – Financial instruments 
This section establishes standards for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and non-financial 

derivatives. This section applies to fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2015 
(all tabular amounts reported in 000’s of dollars) 
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PS 3041 – Portfolio investments 

 

This section revises and replaces the existing Section PS 3040 Portfolio investments.  This section applies to fiscal years 

beginning on or after April 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted.  

 
 

4. Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term investments with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of 

acquisition. 
 

Accounts receivable 
 

Accounts receivable are recorded net of allowance and are comprised of the following: 

 

Type of receivable  2015  2014 
 

Property Tax $ 5,090 $ 5,894 

Trade Receivables  9,994  8,224 

Due from Federal Government  1,453  4,032 

Due from Provincial Government  5,456  7,159 

Due from Regional Government  16  219 

Utilities  4,359   4,346 

Deferred Development Cost Charges       2,636       4,043 
 

 $ 29,004 $ 33,917 

         

 

Portfolio investments   

 

 Portfolio investments are recorded at cost and are comprised of the following: 

 

 
The quoted market value of the publicly traded shares at December 31, 2015 was $66.68 million (2014 - $68.52 million). 

 

 Operating line of credit 

 

The City has an operating line of credit with the Royal Bank of Canada for an authorized amount of $5.0 million, bearing 

interest at bank prime rate. At December 31, 2015 the balance outstanding was $nil (2014 - $nil). 

 

 Deferred revenue 

 

The City records deferred revenue for funds received in advance on services not yet rendered and is recognized into 

revenue during the period in which the service is provided. The City also records deferred revenue when a contract 

specifies how the resources are to be used and therefore funds received in advance are deferred until the period in which 

the requirements are met. Because these funds are restricted in nature they are shown as a liability. 

 

Type of investment 2015 2014 

Municipal Finance Authority Bond/Intermediate Funds 69,706 33,654 
Provincial and Bank Issued Accrual Notes and Debentures 88,344 102,142 
Publicly traded shares 57,328 56,297 
Guaranteed Investment Certificates and Deposit Notes 137,019 55,704 

Total Portfolio investments $ 352,398 $ 247,797 

$ $ 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2015 
(all tabular amounts reported in 000’s of dollars) 
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Deferred Revenue by Type 

 

 

 

2015 

 

 

 

2014 

Tax Prepayments $ 

         

18,036  $ 

        

17,302  

Construction 

 

         

11,522  

 

        

12,458  

Grants 

 

                

94  

 

             

763  

Other 

 

           

2,992  

 

          

2,516  

Local Area Service 

 

           

4,059  

 

          

3,978  

 
$ 

         

36,703  $ 

        

37,017  

 
 

 Deferred development cost charges (DCC) 

  

The City collects development cost charges to pay for a proportionate share of infrastructure related to new growth.  In 

accordance with the Local Government Act, these funds must be deposited into a separate reserve fund.  Because these 

funds are externally restricted in nature they are shown as a liability. 

  

 
  

Long term debt 
 

Debenture debt principal is reported net of sinking fund balances.  Interest rates on long term debt ranged from 1.80% to 

10.07%.  The weighted average rate for 2015 was 3.62% (2014 – 5.08%). Principal repayments for the next five years are 

as follows: 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

General Fund $ 3,763 $ 3,743 $ 3,742 $ 2,875 $ 2,451

Airport 1,972 1,972 1,972 639 639          

Wastewater Fund 4,180 4,180 4,180 4,173 1,496

Water Fund 333 333 333 333 333

Natural Gas Legacy 1,699 1,699 1,699 -           -          

Library Society 502 177 -           -           -          

$ 12,449 $ 12,104 $ 11,926 $ 8,020 $ 4,919

 
Schedule 3 provides a breakdown of long term debt. 

 

Debt as a percentage of total expenditures: 
 

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

 

 
 

2014 Receipts Interest Transfers Out 2015 

Roads $ 13,828 $ 7,037 

 
$ 376 $ 7,791 $ 13,450 

Parks 1,081 3,652 47 8,623 (3,843) 

Water 9,596 387 259 47 10,195 

Wastewater (6,356) 3,816 (163) 6,115 (8,818) 

Total Deferred DCC $ 18,149 $ 14,892 $ 519 $ 22,576 $ 10,984 

54.01% 42.79% 48.84% 53.64% 59.50% 

28



CITY OF KELOWNA 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2015 
(all tabular amounts reported in 000’s of dollars) 

 

13 

 

5. Tangible capital assets and work in progress 

 

 
 

Contributions received in 2015 include: 

 

Type of contribution 

 

2015 2014

Land - park $ 28,271 $ 8,344

 
 

Schedule 1 provides a break down of tangible capital assets and work in progress. 

 

 
 

 

  

2015 2014 

2015 Tangible 2014 Tangible 

Work in Capital  Work in Capital  

Progress Assets (NBV) Progress Assets (NBV) 

Land - $             246,875 $         6,372 $         191,587 $      
Land Improvements 2,713            33,501              1,746            35,194           
Buildings  10,580          161,485            5,758            165,580         
Infrastructure 50,190          1,077,417         30,693          1,099,268       
Machinery and Equipment 25,001          36,301              15,491          40,172           
Natural Gas System (Capital Lease) -                32,799              -                34,399           

88,484 $       1,588,378 $      60,060 $       1,566,200 $    
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6. Accumulated Surplus  

Investment in

Reserves for Tangible

Future Equity in Statutory Fund Capital Total Total

Expenditures FortisBC Inc. Reserves Surpluses Assets 2015 2014

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year                    $         101,612           56,297 $       56,290 $       36,423 $     1,519,150 $     1,769,772 $     1,721,622 

Annual surplus (deficit)               354             2,720         1,679       78,924         (9,563)         74,114         48,150 

Transfers             5,790           (1,650)       (3,003)       (1,137)               -                 -                 -   

Acquisition of tangible capital assets                 -               -       (61,867)         61,867               -                 -   

Repayment of long term debt                 -                   -               -       (10,539)         10,539               -                 -   

Accumulated surplus, end of year $         107,756  $       57,367 $       54,966 $       41,804 $     1,581,993 $     1,843,886 $     1,769,772 

 

Accumulated Surplus detail as follows: 

Balances,

Beginning of Transfer Transfer Annual Balances, 

Description Year From To Surplus End of Year 

Non-Statutory Reserves

General Fund Reserve 57,619$          $ 13,735$     17,065$     28$           60,977$          

Airport Fund Reserve 26,083           17,423       15,444       236           24,340           

Waste Water Fund Reserve 7,354             244           2,284         15             9,409             

Water Fund Reserve 10,556           341           2,740         75             13,030           

101,612          31,743       37,533       354           107,756          

Statutory Reserves

Parking Reserve 4,887             7,971         5,666         210           2,792             

Land Reserve 16,659           11,366       2,351         450           8,094             

Capital Works, Machinery & Equip Reserve 34,744           7,735         16,052       1,019        44,080           

56,290           27,072       24,069       1,679        54,966           

Surplus by Fund

General Fund Surplus 2,116             54,518       10,200       44,453       2,251             

Airport Fund Surplus 596                15,515       1,333         14,182       596                

Waste Water Fund Surplus 21,301           15,048       6,914         10,891       24,058           

Water Fund Surplus 7,551             7,843         3,124         7,509        10,341           

Natural Gas Legacy Surplus 4,694             3,159         1,429         1,429        4,393             

Library Surplus 165                920           460           460           165                

Accumulated Surplus 36,423           97,003       23,460       78,924       41,804           

Equity Investment

Equity in FortisBC Inc. 56,297           1,650         -            2,720        57,367           

Investment in Non Financial Assets

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets 1,519,150       20,102       92,508       (9,563)       1,581,993       

Accumulated Surplus 1,769,772$     177,570$   177,570$   74,114$     1,843,886$     
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7. Taxation 

 

  Taxation revenue comprises the following amounts raised less transfers to other governments: 

 

  2015  2014 

Taxes collected  

 Property taxes $ 206,636 $ 199,000 

 Local improvement levies  179  104 

 Frontage tax – water  1,419  1,406 

 Specified sewer area recoveries  1,552  1,655 

 Grants in lieu of taxes   446  486 

 Levies  6,596  6,409 

   216,828  209,060 

Less transfers to other governments 

 Province of BC (school taxes)  66,909  65,932 

 BC Assessment Authority  2,017  2,003 

 Regional Hospital District  11,307  10,896 

 Regional District of Central Okanagan  11,407  10,963 

   91,640  89,794 

 

Net taxes available for municipal purposes $ 125,188 $ 119,266 

 

 
 

8. Government transfers  

 

Government transfers are the major source of transfers to the City.  Government transfers received are for completed 

projects that meet the required criteria as set out by the Government body providing the funding.  Due to the completion of 

the projects in 2015 there is no deferred revenue balances related to these transfers.  Government transfers do not include 

grants in lieu of taxes received from the Federal and Provincial governments.  In 2015 the City received and recorded as 

revenue the following transfers: 

 

 

  2015  2014 

Operating transfers  

 Federal $ 333 $ 531 

 Provincial  18,324  15,313 

   18,657  15,844 

 

Capital transfers 

 Federal  1,508  1,660 

 Provincial  2,254  4,882 

   3,762  6,543 

 

Total transfers $ 22,419 $ 22,387 

 

 
 

9. Contingent liabilities 
 

 Regional District of Central Okanagan 
 

 Regional District debt is, under the provisions of the Local Government Act, a direct, joint and several liability of the 

District and each member municipality within the District including the City of Kelowna. 

 

 The loan agreements with the Regional District of Central Okanagan and the Municipal Finance Authority provide that if at 

any time the scheduled payments provided for in the agreements are not sufficient to meet the Authority's obligation with 

respect to such borrowing, the resulting deficiency becomes a liability of the member municipalities. 
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Pension liability 
 

The employer and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan).  The board of  

trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of 

assets and administration of benefits.  The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.  Basic pension benefits 

are based on a formula.  As at December 31, 2014, the plan has about 185,000 active members and approximately 80,000 

retired members.  Active members include approximately 37,000 contributors from local governments.  

 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan 

funding.  The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan.  The 

actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of 

member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate is then 

adjusted to the extent there is amortization of any funding deficit.  

 

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2012, indicated a $1,370 million funding 

deficit for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

 

The City of Kelowna paid $6.9 million for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2015, which represents 0.4% of the 

total plan contributions.  The City of Kelowna expects to pay $6.9 million for employer contributions in the next fiscal 

year.  

 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2015, with results available in 2016.  

 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the 

fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting).  This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued 

assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 

individual employers participating in the plan. 

  

The City of Kelowna paid $6.9 million (2014 - $5.9 million) for employer contributions while employees contributed $5.6 

million (2014 - $4.8 million) to the plan in fiscal 2015.  

 

Post employment benefits 
 

 The City of Kelowna does not accrue expenses for post employment benefits such as retirement allowances or 

compensated absences (sick leave).  City employees retiring do not receive any retirement allowance that either vests or 

accrues over the period of employment.  Sick benefits do not accrue and are not vested.  The City recognizes the expense 

for sick time when the event obligates the City to pay. 

 

 Legal actions 

 

 The City of Kelowna is currently engaged in certain legal actions, the outcome of which is not determinable at this time. 

Accordingly, no provision has been made in the accounts for these actions. 

  

The amount of loss, if any, arising from these contingent liabilities will be recorded in the accounts in the period in which 

the loss is realized.  The City of Kelowna has insurance policies and financial reserves to offset associated risks. 

 
 

10. Commitments 

 

Agreements, contracts and purchase orders 

 

 The City has entered into various agreements and contracts for services and construction with periods ranging from one to 

five years. 

 

The City has purchase orders open as at December 31, 2015 which have not been recorded in the accounts.  The balance of 

these open purchase orders are not determinable at this time.  The funding for the majority of these obligations has been set 

aside in reserves for future expenditures.  These amounts will be recorded in the accounts in the period the goods and 

services, to which they relate, are received. 
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Landfill closure and post closure costs 
 

As required by PSAS and regulated by the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, the City has agreed to obligations 

regarding the operation of the landfill site.  These obligations include recognition of closure and post-closure liability.  The 

City’s estimated liability for these expenditures is recognized as the landfill site’s capacity is used.  The reported liability of 

$3.7 million (2014 - $3.6 million) represents the portion of the estimated total expenditure recognized as at December 31, 

2015.  The liability and annual expenditure is calculated based on the ratio of current usage to the total capacity of the site 

and the discounted estimated future cash flows associated with closure and post-closure activities. 
 

The reported liability is based on estimates and assumptions with respect to events extending over the remaining life of the 

landfill.  The remaining capacity of the landfill site is estimated at 14.9 million tonnes, which is 81% of the site’s total 

capacity.  The future cash flows for closure and post-closure cost is estimated at $11.9 million as at December 31, 2015.  

The landfill site is expected to reach its capacity in 2092.   

 

Kelowna Family Y Centre loan guarantee agreement 
 

 The City has, under the terms of the partnering agreement between the City of Kelowna and YMCA-YWCA of Central 

Okanagan, guaranteed repayment in the event that the YMCA-YWCA of Central Okanagan defaults on a $1.8 million, 20-

year loan.  Under the agreement the City shall resume operation of the facility and assume responsibility for the repayment 

of the debt incurred by the YMCA-YWCA of Central Okanagan.  During 2010 an amendment was made to the agreement 

for additional financing of $700,000.  As at December 31, 2015 the outstanding loan balance was $1,089,336 (2014 - 

$1,189,598). 

 

Multi-Purpose Facility Public/Private Partnership 
 

The City has, under the terms of the Preferred Share Agreement between the City of Kelowna and RG Properties Ltd., 

purchased $6.0 million of preferred shares in RG Arenas (Kelowna) Ltd. at a cost of $1 per share.  The terms and 

conditions of the purchase are subject to the terms of a Tripartite Agreement between the City of Kelowna, Royal Bank of 

Canada and RG Arenas (Kelowna) Ltd., RG Properties Ltd., Prospero Canadian Land Investment Fund Ltd. group of 

companies.  

 

The City has, under the terms of the above noted Tripartite Agreement, committed to the annual purchase of community 

use time at the Multi-Purpose facility, commencing with substantial completion, on November 10, 1999 under the 

following terms: 
 

(i) $1.3 million per annum for Years 1 to 3 comprised of a payment of $1.1 million, which for Years 2 and 3 is 

subject to a minimum CPI increase of 1% per annum and a maximum average CPI increase of 5% per annum, 

plus an annual payment of $150,000 without any adjustment for CPI; 

(ii) $1.2 million per annum for Years 4 to 7, subject to a minimum CPI increase of 1% per annum and a maximum 

average CPI increase of 5% per annum; 

(iii) $1.2 million per annum for Years 8 to 10, subject to a minimum CPI increase of 1% per annum and a maximum 

average CPI increase of 5% per annum, minus $150,000 per annum; 

(iv) $1.0 million per annum for Years 11 to 20, subject to a minimum CPI increase of 1% per annum and a maximum 

average CPI increase of 5% per annum; and 

(v) $0.5 million per annum for Years 21 to 30, subject to a minimum CPI increase of 1% per annum and a maximum 

average CPI increase of 5% per annum. 

 

The year 2015 represented year 16 of the agreement. 
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Should the City not exercise, in its sole discretion, its option to renew any future term for community use time in the Multi-

Purpose facility, under the above terms it shall be required to make a lump sum payment to RG Arenas (Kelowna) Ltd. on 

or before the 15th day of one of year 6, 11, 16, 21 or 26 commencing with the year of substantial completion in the 

following amounts: 

 

2005  Year 6 $13.2 million 

2010  Year 11 $11.9 million 

2015  Year 16 $10.4 million 

2020  Year 21 $6.7 million 

2025  Year 26 $4.5 million 

 

Upon such payment, no further amounts will be payable to RG Arenas (Kelowna) Ltd. and the City will have the right to 

the community use time for the period from the beginning of the year in which the payment was made until November 9, 

2029 without any additional payment. 

 

The City did exercise its option to renew the purchase of community use time under the above annual payments terms and 

accordingly did not make any of the lump sum payment of $13.2 or $11.9 or $10.4 million otherwise due to RG Arenas 

(Kelowna) Ltd. in years 6 or 11 or 16.  

 

Royal Canadian Mounted Police Services 

 

The Province of British Columbia and the Federal Government have an agreement with the Royal Canadian Mounted 

Police to provide police services for various municipalities in the Province, including the City of Kelowna.  This agreement 

has a 20 year term expiring on March 31, 2032.   

 
 

11. Long-term investments 

 

Kelowna Developments Ltd. 

 

 The investment in Kelowna Developments Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary, is carried at its cost of $2. The company is 

inactive with no assets or liabilities and is being retained for potential future use. 

 

RG Arenas (Kelowna) Ltd. 

 

The investment in preferred shares in RG Arenas (Kelowna) Ltd. is carried at its cost of $6.0 million.  The shares were 

purchased under the terms of the Preferred Share Agreement between the City of Kelowna and RG Properties Ltd. and are 

to be retained until 2028 per the terms of that agreement described in Note 10. 
 

 

12. Letters of credit 

 

 In addition to the performance deposits reflected in cash balances, the City is holding irrevocable Letters of Credit in the 

amount of $29.5 million (2014 - $28.9 million) which were received from depositors to ensure their performance of works 

to be undertaken within the City.  These amounts are not reflected in the financial statements but are available to satisfy 

any liabilities arising from non-performance by the depositors.  Included in the $29.5 million, the City is holding 

irrevocable Letters of Credit in the amount of $2.7 million (2014 - $4.1 million) which are received from developers to 

ensure payment of development cost charges in future years.     
 

 

13. Capital lease payable 

 

The City has entered into an agreement with FortisBC Energy Inc. (“FortisBC”) that has resulted in the creation of the 

Natural Gas Legacy Fund. 
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Capital lease 
 

Under the terms of the agreement the City entered into a 35 year capital lease with FortisBC on November 1, 2001 for the 

natural gas distribution system within the City’s municipal boundary.  The City has prepaid $47.5 million of the capital 

lease obligation and has financed the prepayment through debenture debt.  The remaining obligation of $2.3 million, which 

is included in long term debt, will be paid with annual lease payments of $260,870 including interest based on FortisBC 

approved pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 10.072%. 

 

Operating lease 
 

The City also entered into a 17 year operating lease with FortisBC on November 1, 2001 whereby the City leases back to 

FortisBC the operations of the gas distribution system.  Under the operating lease FortisBC is required to make annual 

lease payments to the City calculated by a formula specified in the agreement which is based on the total annual revenue 

generated by the transaction.  At the end of the 17 year term FortisBC has the option of making a termination payment to 

the City equal to the unamortized portion of the City’s $47.5 million prepayment under the capital lease, which is estimated 

to be $27.0 million, or negotiate a new 18 year operating lease with a continuation of the annual lease payments which 

existed under the previous 17 year operating lease.  
 

Annual lease revenues for the past five years are: 

 

2011 $4.8 million

2012 $4.6 million

2013 $4.4 million

2014 $4.3 million

2015 $4.2 million
 

 

 

14. City of Kelowna Library Society 
 

 In March 1997, the City transferred the Library building and land located on Ellis Street in the City of Kelowna and the 

related mortgage loan to the City of Kelowna Library Society, a non-profit society.  The City has guaranteed the repayment 

of the mortgage.  As at December 31, 2015 the mortgage balance was $682 thousand (2014 - $1.1 million).  The City has 

taken back an option to purchase these assets at a nominal value.  The Society’s financial information is included in with 

the City of Kelowna consolidated financial statements. 
 

 

15.  Trust funds 
 

In accordance with PSAS, trust funds are not included in the City’s consolidated financial statements.  The City 

administers a Cemetery Maintenance Fund for the perpetual care and maintenance of the City owned and operated 

cemetery.  As at December 31, 2015 the Trust Fund balance is $2.45 million (2014 - $2.3 million).  
 

 

16. Segmented information 
 

The City of Kelowna is connecting communities and providing a multitude of services to the citizens of Kelowna.  The 

City’s operations and activities are organized and reported by funds and departments. The General Fund reports on 

operations, funded primarily by property taxes, which include services provided by the City such as general government, 

protective services, transportation services, recreation and cultural services, as well as public health, and environmental and 

development services.  The City also operates its own airport and City utilities comprised of the wastewater and water 

systems that are self-sustaining operations. Operating results reported by the following segments are included in 

Schedule 2. 
 

General government 

General Government operations are primarily funded by property taxation and business tax revenues. The expenses within 

the department are for executive and legislative costs, general administration, and other general government areas such as 

community service grants and rental property operating costs within the municipality. The general revenue reported under 

the department includes revenues associated with taxation, business tax revenues and senior government payments in lieu 

of taxes. These revenues have not been apportioned to other departments supported by the General Fund. 
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Protective services 

Protective services are comprised of police services provided by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, fire protection 

services, building inspection services and bylaw enforcement as well as the Provincial Emergency Program.   
 

Police services include administration, crime investigation and prevention, traffic, prisoner custody and court liaison 

expenses.  
 

The fire department is responsible for effective fire protection and public safety services to the City. This includes fire 

suppression and rescue, prevention and investigation, specialty rescue/first medical responses and fire safety inspections. 
 

Costs for maintenance and repair of police and fire buildings are included in this section.  
 

Transportation services 

Transportation services are responsible for the delivery of municipal public works services related to the planning, 

development and maintenance of streets and roads, bridges, drainage systems, street lights, traffic lights and signals, 

parking lots and on-street parking, and public transit as well as maintenance of workshops, yards and other buildings. The 

mandate is to provide a safe, efficient, environmentally-sensitive and cost-effective transportation network.  

 

Recreation & cultural services 

Recreation & cultural services provide services related to recreation, leisure and culture including administration and 

program costs as well as grounds and building maintenance. Facilities managed within this area include parks and 

playgrounds, arenas, swimming pools, beaches, boat launches, stadiums as well as community and seniors centers.  The 

H2O Adventure & Fitness Centre, Parkinson Recreation Centre, Kelowna Community Theatre, Kelowna Museum, 

Kelowna Art Gallery and the Rotary Centre for the Arts are some of the larger facilities included. 
 

Other services (Public Health/Environmental/Development services) 

Public health services are comprised of cemetery operations and maintenance, environmental and development services 

including community planning and zoning as well as landfill operations. 

 

Airport services 

The Airport, owned and operated by the City of Kelowna, provides quality airport services in a safe and cost effective 

manner in compliance with Federal regulations. The Airport is accounted for in its own fund. 
 

Wastewater Services 

Kelowna’s sanitary sewer system collects, conveys, treats and disposes of domestic wastewater (derived from the home) 

and industrial wastewater (resulting from business use, manufacturing and processing). The system currently services 

approximately 70% of Kelowna’s population and continues to be extended to unserviced areas. Kelowna’s wastewater 

system has a treatment capacity of 72 million liters per day.  Wastewater Utility is accounted for in its own fund.  
 

Water services 

The Water Utility is responsible for planning, designing, building, operating and maintaining the City’s Water Utility and 

is one of five water suppliers operating within Kelowna’s boundaries. The Water Utility is accounted for in its own fund. 
 

Natural Gas legacy services 

Natural Gas Legacy Fund was created from an agreement with FortisBC for a 35 year capital lease for the natural gas 

distribution system within the City’s municipal boundary and a 17 year operating lease whereby the City leases back to 

FortisBC the operations of the gas distribution system.  The Natural Gas Legacy Fund is accounted for in its own fund.     
 

Library services 

The City of Kelowna Library Society is a non-profit society instituted and controlled by the City of Kelowna.  The Society 

was incorporated for the purpose of establishing, operating, and maintaining libraries and library services for the benefit of 

the City of Kelowna and its citizens.  Financial statements for the Society are prepared separately and are consolidated with 

the City of Kelowna. 
  

Statutory reserves 

Statutory Reserves include funds for parking, land and capital works, machinery and equipment. 
 

 

17. Expenses by object 
  

 Total consolidated expenses by object are itemized in Schedule 2 – Segmented information. 
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18. Budget data 

  

The budget figures are from the Annual Five-Year Financial Plan Bylaw adopted before May 15 of each year.  Subsequent 

amendments have been made by Council to reflect changes in the budget as required by law.  Amortization of tangible 

capital assets was not included in the budget.  The table below shows the reconciliation between the approved budget and 

the budget presented in these consolidated financial statements.   

 

Budget Amount

Revenues:

Operating budget $ 254,332           

Capital budget 29,750             

284,082           

Expenses:

Operating  budget 198,022           

Capital budget 212,796           

410,818           

Annual deficit per approved budget (126,736)          

Add: tangible capital asset purchases 212,796           

Annual surplus per statement of operations $ 86,060             

 
 

 

19. Comparative figures 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation format adopted in the current year. 
 

 

20.   Subsequent Event 

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2015, the City of Kelowna acquired approximately 84 acres of property adjacent to the airport 

for $5,400,000.  The property is currently operating as the Shadow Ridge Golf Course. 
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CITY OF KELOWNA
Schedule 1 - Tangible Capital Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

(in thousands of dollars)

Other Subtotal

Land Machinery & Machinery &

Land Improvements Buildings Vehicles Equipment Computer Misc Equipment

Cost

Balance, beginning of year $ 191,587          $ 64,304            $ 285,254     $ 29,519           $ 48,454         $ 9,884          $ 5,582          $ 93,439          

Add: additions during the year 58,627            616                 4,966         903                764              794             -              2,461            

Less: capital held for resale (2,916)             -                  -              -                

Less: disposals during the year (423)                -                  (162)          (1,255)            (398)            (489)            -              (2,142)           

Balance, end of year 246,875          64,920            290,058     29,167           $ 48,820         10,189        5,582          93,758          

Accumulated Amortization

Balance, beginning of year -                  29,110            119,674     14,656           30,739         6,426          1,446          53,267          

Add: amortization -                  2,309              9,028         2,100             2,778           676             279             5,833            

Less: accumulated amortization on disposals -                  -                  (129)          (964)               (296)            (383)            -              (1,643)           

Balance, end of year -                  31,419            128,573     15,792           33,221         6,719          1,725          57,457          

Net Book Value of Tangible Capital Assets $ 246,875          $ 33,501            $ 161,485     $ 13,375           $ 15,599         $ 3,470          $ 3,857          $ 36,301          

Work in Progress $ -                  $ 2,713              $ 10,580       $ -                 $ 9,728           $ 1,666          $ 13,607        $ 25,001          

Roads, Lanes, Bridges, Underground, Subtotal Natural Gas

Plant & Sidewalks & Overhead & Airport Capital Total Total

Facilities Bike Paths Overpasses Other Networks Infrastructure Infrastructure Lease 2015 2014

Cost

Balance, beginning of year $ 175,802          $ 486,288          $ 30,136       $ 1,023,387      $ 43,883         $ 1,759,496   $ 55,609        $ 2,449,689     $ 2,390,461   

Add: additions during the year 1,334              13,481            3                3,524             2,922           21,264        -              87,934          68,140        

Less: capital held for resale -                  -                  -            -                 -              -              -              (2,916)           (220)            

Less: disposals during the year -                  -                  -            -                 -              -              -              (2,727)           (8,692)         \

Balance, end of year 177,136          499,769          30,139       1,026,911      46,805         1,780,760   55,609        2,531,980     2,449,689   

Accumulated Amortization

Balance, beginning of year 53,679            234,118          7,161         343,824         21,446         660,228      21,210        883,489        827,171      

Add: amortization 6,081              19,035            466            15,471           2,062           43,115        1,600          61,885          61,411        

Less: accumulated amortization on disposals -                  -                  -            -                 -              -              -              (1,772)           (5,093)         

Balance, end of year 59,760            253,153          7,627         359,295         23,508         703,343      22,810        943,602        883,489      

Net Book Value of Tangible Capital Assets $ 117,376          $ 246,616          $ 22,512       $ 667,616         $ 23,297         $ 1,077,417   $ 32,799        $ 1,588,378     $ 1,566,200   

Work in Progress $ 9,682              $ 15,505            3,829         $ 9,187             $ 11,987         $ 50,190        $ -              88,484          60,060        

$ 1,676,862     $ 1,626,260   

Machinery & Equipment

Infrastructure

2
2
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CITY OF KELOWNA
Schedule 2 - Segmented Information

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

(in thousands of dollars)

General 

Gov't

Protective 

Services

Transpor-

tation 

 Services

Recreation

& Cultural 

Services

Other 

Services

Airport 

Services

Wastewater 

Services

Water 

Services

Nat. Gas 

Legacy 

Services

Library 

Services

Statutory

Reserves 2015

Revenue

Taxation $ 122,012      $ -            $ 179             $ -               $ -             $ -               $ 1,552             $ 1,445            $ -              $ -            $ -               $ 125,188       

Fees and charges 55,691        529            10,134        3,995            12,937       26,368          16,165           11,776          4,335          766           41               142,737       

Interest earned 6,279          -            -              -               -             251               548                264               -              -            1,637          8,979           

DCC contributions -              -            7,791          8,623            -             -               6,115             47                 -              -            -              22,576         

Contribution from other governments 1,889          3,884         12,407        264               3,601         116               258                -                -              -            -              22,419         

Other capital contributions 862             -            -              -               -             354               1,025             80                 2,068          -            -              4,389           

186,733      4,413         30,511        12,882          16,538       27,089          25,663           13,612          6,403          766           1,678          326,288       

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 14,711        26,846       8,760          10,800          5,019         3,888            3,144             2,309            -              21             -              75,498         

Contract and professional services 3,172          1,483         23,874        7,575            7,312         936               658                781               -              95             -              45,886         

RCMP contract -              24,787       -              -               -             -               -                 -                -              -            -              24,787         

Materials and supplies 4,436          1,421         5,296          10,034          1,504         5,112            1,278             769               -              28             -              29,878         

Equipment 203             313            2,584          1,488            1,716         18                 632                436               -              2               -              7,392           

Allocations (3,880)         (77)            (297)            (182)             (863)          1,461            3,113             753               20               -            -              48                

Cost recoveries (612)            (2,306)       (7,974)         (371)             (1,269)       (494)             -                 (636)              -              -            -              (13,662)       

Grants and external transfers 368             101            6                 1,108            2,246         -               (127)               -                -              -            -              3,702           

Utilities 175             212            2,005          2,075            148            560               1,084             899               -              81             -              7,239           

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 27               -            -              -               -             -               -                 -                -              -            -              27                

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,572          916            26,630        8,792            1,903         5,159            10,591           4,560            1,600          162           -              61,885         

Total before Debt 20,172        53,696       60,884        41,319          17,716       16,640          20,373           9,871            1,620          389           -              242,680       

Debt interest and fiscal services 2,801          -            -              -               -             795               2,461             472               2,886          79             -              9,494           

Total operating expenses 22,973        53,696       60,884        41,319          17,716       17,435          22,834           10,343          4,506          468           -              252,174       

Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 163,760      $ (49,283)     $ (30,373)       $ (28,437)        $ (1,178)       $ 9,654            $ 2,829             $ 3,269            $ 1,897          $ 298           $ 1,678          $ 74,114         

2
3
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CITY OF KELOWNA
Schedule 2 - Segmented Information

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

(in thousands of dollars)

General 

Gov't

Protective 

Services

Transpor-

tation 

 Services

Recreation

& Cultural 

Services

Other 

Services

Airport 

Services

Wastewater 

Services

Water 

Services

Nat. Gas 

Legacy 

Services

Library 

Services

Statutory

Reserves 2014

Revenue

Taxation $ 116,074      $ -            $ 104             $ -               $ -             $ -               $ 1,655             $ 1,433            $ -              $ -            $ -               $ 119,266       

Fees and charges 34,864        434            8,384          4,039            12,562       26,180          14,849           11,296          4,481          795           66               117,950       

Interest earned 6,157          -            -              -               -             251               579                202               -              -            1,249          8,438           

DCC contributions -              -            7,120          1,024            -             -               6,897             2,959            -              -            -              18,000         

Contribution from other governments 222             3,704         14,549        483               2,830         116               463                20                 -              -            -              22,387         

Other capital contributions 728             -            -              -               -             289               1,157             64                 1,844          -            -              4,082           

Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets 4,455          -            -              -               -             -               -                 -                -              -            -              4,455           

162,500      4,138         30,157        5,546            15,392       26,836          25,600           15,974          6,325          795           1,315          294,578       

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 14,419        23,139       8,386          10,480          4,633         3,797            3,001             2,139            -              14             -              70,008         

Contract and professional services 3,303          1,481         21,935        9,464            7,404         847               838                690               -              134           -              46,096         

RCMP contract -              23,891       -              -               -             -               -                 -                -              -            -              23,891         

Materials and supplies 4,465          1,419         5,303          9,926            1,531         5,139            1,119             779               -              27             -              29,708         

Equipment 201             305            2,306          1,453            1,469         14                 634                396               -              2               -              6,780           

Allocations (3,799)         (65)            (294)            (128)             (746)          1,306            2,945             782               20               -            -              21                

Cost recoveries (620)            (1,631)       (7,380)         (413)             (729)          (638)             (2)                   (543)              -              -            -              (11,956)       

Grants and external transfers 350             104            -              1,046            2,225         -               (131)               -                -              -            -              3,594           

Utilities 161             222            1,863          1,979            175            667               1,090             891               -              80             -              7,128           

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,740          945            26,436        8,776            1,655         4,938            10,614           4,545            1,600          162           -              61,411         

Total before Debt 20,220        49,810       58,555        42,583          17,617       16,070          20,108           9,679            1,620          419           -              236,681       

Debt interest and fiscal services 2,572          -            -              -               -             744               2,953             472               2,889          117           -              9,747           

Total operating expenses 22,792        49,810       58,555        42,583          17,617       16,814          23,061           10,151          4,509          536           -              246,428       

Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 139,708      $ (45,672)     $ (28,398)       $ (37,037)        $ (2,225)       $ 10,022          $ 2,539             $ 5,823            $ 1,816          $ 259           $ 1,315          $ 48,150         

2
4
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CITY OF KELOWNA

Schedule 3 - Long Term Debt

as at December 31, 2015

(in thousands of dollars)

Long term debt - General Fund

Debenture Debt 

Debt Sinking Fund Current

Year of Balance Balance Amount Interest

Maturity Purpose Dec. 31/15 Dec. 31/15 of Issue Rate

Public Works %

2019 South Pandosy Spec Area 1 $ 66                  $ 168              $ 234            2.10

2019 South Pandosy Spec Area 2 115                295              410            2.10

2019 Automated Curb Side Carts 2,153             2,657           4,810         4.13

2021 Library Parkade 792                1,408           2,200         4.43

2022 Chapman Parkade 1,890             2,181           4,071         2.10

2028 DCC Roads 3,558             6,842           10,400       5.15

Local Improvements

2016 Local Improvements 30                  363              393            3.05

2016 Local Improvements 21                  248              269            4.43

2017 Local Improvements 8                    46                54              4.82

2019 Local Improvements 19                  50                69              2.10

2035 Lawrence Ave LAS 333                12                345            3.00

Recreation and Cultural

2021 Kokanee Gym Facility 204                296              500            3.05

2027 H2O Centre 18,991           8,509           27,500       4.82

2027 Kokanee Gymnastic 552                248              800            4.82

2028 H2O Centre 1,470             530              2,000         5.15

2035 Police Facilities 20,000           -                   20,000       2.75

2035 Library Parkade Ext & Memorial Parkade 15,000           -                   15,000       2.75

Total Debt - General Fund $ 65,202           $ 23,853         $ 89,055       

25
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CITY OF KELOWNA

Schedule 3 - Long Term Debt (continued)

as at December 31, 2015

(in thousands of dollars)

Long term debt - Wastewater Fund

Debenture Debt

Debt Sinking Fund Current

Year of Balance Balance Amount Interest

Maturity Purpose Dec. 31/15 Dec. 31/15 of Issue Rate

Specified Area Programs %

2018 Spec. Area 18 - Caramillo 30                    105                135             4.65

2018 Spec. Area 19 - Poplar Point 17                    60                  77               4.65

2022 Spec. Area 22A - Gerstmar 18                    22                  40               3.05

2024 Spec. Area 21A - McKenzie Bench 770                  580                1,350          2.00

2024 Spec. Area 22B - Vista Rd 45                    35                  80               2.00

2024 Spec. Area 22C - Hein Rd 152                  114                266             2.00

2024 Spec. Area 22D - Elwyn Rd 85                    64                  149             2.00

2024 Spec. Area 22E - Dease Rd 55                    41                  96               2.00

2024 Spec. Area 22F - Mills Rd 195                  147                342             2.00

2024 Spec. Area 29 - Campion Cambro 499                  375                874             2.00

2024 Spec. Area 30 - Acland 208                  156                364             2.00

2025 Spec. Area 20 - North Rutland 4,071               2,751             6,822          1.80

2025 Spec. Area 28A - Okaview 381                  257                638             1.80

2028 Spec Area 26 - Fisher Rd 1,485               536                2,021          5.15

2028 Spec Area 34 - Country Rhodes 319                  116                435             5.15

2028 Spec Area 36 - Clifton 196                  71                  267             5.15

Sewer Improvement Programs

2019 Byrns Baron Main 1,321               2,545             3,866          2.00

Sewage Treatment Plant

2019 Waste Water Treatment Expansion 8,951               11,049           20,000        4.90

2019 Waste Water Treatment Expansion 4,475               5,525             10,000        4.13

2020 Waste Water Treatment Expansion 5,489               4,511             10,000        3.73

2031 Brandt's Creek Tradewaste Treatment 2,994               806                3,800          3.25

Total Debt - Wastewater Fund $ 31,756             $ 29,866           $ 61,622        

26
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CITY OF KELOWNA

Schedule 3 - Long Term Debt (continued)

as at December 31, 2015

(in thousands of dollars)

Long term debt - Water Fund

Debenture Debt Debt Sinking Fund Current

Balance Balance Amount Interest

Maturity Purpose Dec. 31/15 Dec. 31/15 of Issue Rate

Specified Area Programs %

2023 Spec Area 16 - Byrns $ 20                         $ 19                     $ 39               2.40

2024 Spec Area 18 - Lakeshore 13                         11                     24               2.00

2028 Spec Area 26 - Fisher Rd 219                       78                     297             5.15

Water Improvement Programs

2028 Cedar Creek Pump Station 5,567                    2,010                7,577          5.15

2031 Poplar Point Pump Station Upgrade 1,715                    285                   2,000          3.25

Total Debt - Water Fund $ 7,534                    $ 2,403                $ 9,937          

Long term debt - Airport Fund

Debenture Debt

2018 Airport Expansion $ 5,474                    $ 10,526              $ 16,000        4.65

2025 Airport Expansion 7,500                    -                       7,500          2.75

Total Debt - Airport Fund $ 12,974                  $ 10,526              $ 23,500        

Long term debt - Natural Gas Legacy Fund
Debenture Debt 

2018 Leased Capital Assets $ 7,732                    $ 22,068              $ 29,800        6.00

2018 Leased Capital Assets 5,059                    14,441              19,500        4.45

12,791                  $ 36,509              49,300        

Capital Lease Payable 2,244                    2,500          10.072

Total Debt  - Natural Gas Legacy  Fund $ 15,035                  $ 51,800        

Long term debt - Library

2017 Mortgage - Building $ 682                       $ 5,100          8.94

Total Debt - Library  Fund $ 682                       $ 5,100          

Long term debt - Other

2018 CN Rail $ 3,000                    $ 3,000          -

Total Debt - Other $ 3,000                    $ 3,000          

Total City Long Term Debt $ 136,183                $ 103,157            $ 244,014      
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REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 2, 2016 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (TB) 

Application: Z16-0011 Owner:  
Corey Knorr Construction 
Ltd., Inc. No. BC0389398 

Address: 330 Merrifield Rd Applicant: Corey Knorr 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single/Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z16-0011 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot A, Section 26, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18164 located at 
330 Merrifield Rd, Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU2 – Medium Lot 
Housing zone be considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT the Rezoning Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration;  
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the outstanding 
conditions of approval as set out in Schedule “A” attached to the Report from the Community 
Planning Department dated April 6, 2016;  
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the issuance of a 
Preliminary Layout Review Letter by the Approving Officer; 

2.0 Purpose  

To rezone the subject property from RU1 to RU2 to facilitate a 2-lot subdivision. 

3.0 Community Planning  

Community Planning supports the proposal to rezone the subject property. The rezoning of this 
property from RU1 to RU2 would allow it to be subdivided into two lots and a single family 
dwelling developed on the second lot. The existing lot has one single family dwelling with a 
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suite, and the rezoning and subdivision would not cause any variances on the existing dwelling. 
This is consistent with the Official Community Plan (OCP) Future Land Use Designation of S2RES – 
Single/Two Family Residential and the OCP urban infill policy of compact urban form. The 
subject property is located within the Permanent Growth Boundary in the City’s Core Area. 
 
In fulfillment of Council Policy No. 367 respecting public consultation, the applicant undertook 
neighbour consultation by individually contacting the neighbours on April 6, 2016.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject property had a single family dwelling that was damaged by fire in August 2014. The 
home was demolished in July 2015, and a new single family dwelling with a suite was completed 
in January 2016. The siting of the new single family dwelling was sited to allow for a future 
rezoning and subsequent subdivision without variances. 

4.2 Project Description 

The subject property is 931m2 and the proposed rezoning does not trigger any variances. The RU2 
– Medium Lot Housing zoning would allow the property to be subdivided into 2 lots without 
triggering a variance on the existing single family dwelling with suite. The second lot could then 
be developed with a single family dwelling, or a single family dwelling with suite. Should Council 
approve this rezoning, the Subdivision Approving Officer will review the application to subdivide. 
Should this be successful, a development permit would not be required for the single family 
dwelling on the new lot provided there were no variances requested. 

This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use of Single/Two Unit Residential. It is also 
consistent with the OCP policy of Compact Urban Form, creating density where infrastructure 
already exists and is within 400m walking distance of transit stops.  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the west side of Merrifield Road, north of Hwy 33 E and south 
of Mugford Road. It is within the Permanent Growth Boundary and the Core Area, and within 
walking distance to Mugford Park and Briarwood Park. It is a short drive to the commercial 
amenities located at Rutland Road and Highway 33 E. 

There is an RU2 development two blocks to the east on Poonian Street that consists of 55 lots. 
There are nearly 20 RU6 lots in close proximity.  

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 
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Subject Property Map: 330 Merrifield Road  

 
 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU2 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot 
Minimum Lot Area 400 m2 913 m2 

Minimum Lot Width 13.0 m 30.40 m 

Minimum Lot Depth 30.0 m 30.04 m 

Proposed Future Subdivision 

Minimum Lot Area 400 m2 
Lot 1: 410 m2 

Lot 2: 503 m2 

Minimum Lot Width 13.0 m 
Lot 1: 13.67 m 
Lot 2: 16.74 

Minimum Lot Depth 30.0 m 
Lot 1: 30.04 m 
Lot 2: 30.04 m 
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5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done 
by increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 
metre walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) 
through development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 
5.3) in particular and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land 
Use Map 4.1. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Development Engineering Department 

 Please see attached Schedule “A” attached to the Report from the Community 
Planning Department dated April 6, 2016. 

6.2 Fire Department 

 Ensure both lots are addressed off of Merrifield Rd 

 Ensure appropriate fire flows/hydrants in area. 

6.3 FortisBC Gas 

 Please be advised FortisBC Gas has reviewed the above mentioned referral and the gas 
service line may be impacted by this proposal. A Statutory Right of Way will be 
required to protect the existing asset from encroachment or a gas service alteration 
will be required. 

6.4 FortisBC Electric 

 There are FortisBC Inc (Electric) (“FBC(E)”) primary distribution facilities along 
Merrifield Rd.  To date, arrangements have not been completed to meet the 
requirements to service the proposed subdivision.  The applicant is responsible for 
costs associated with changes to the proposed lots’ existing service, if any, as well as 
the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

 Otherwise, FBC(E) has no concerns with this circulation. 

6.5 Rutland Water Works District 

 Please see attached letter dated February 25, 2016 

6.6 Ministry of Transportation 

 Preliminary Approval is granted for the rezoning for one year pursuant to Section 
52(3)(a) of the Transportation Act.   

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
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 Please forward the bylaw for Ministry signature after 3rd reading. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received:  February 18, 2016  
Date Public Consultation Completed: April 6, 2016 
 
 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Trisa Brandt, Planner I 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Terry Barton, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 
 

Attachments: 

Schedule “A”: Development Engineering Memorandum dated April 6, 2016 
Letter from Rutland Water Works District dated February 25, 2016 
Site Plan 
Site Photo 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11241 
Z16-0011 – Corey Knorr Construction Ltd., Inc. No. 

BC0380398  
330 Merrifield Road 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot A, Section 26, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18164 located on 
Merrifield Road, Kelowna, B.C., from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU2 – 
Medium Lot Housing zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 
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REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 2, 2016 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (LK) 

Application: Z15-0050 Owner: Carol Kergan 

Address: 845 Kinnear Ct Applicant: Carol Kergan 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RU1c – Large Lot Housing with Carriage House 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z15-0050 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot 6 District Lot 135 ODYD Plan 25798, located at 845 
Kinnear Court, Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU1c – Large Lot 
Housing with Carriage House zone, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Rezoning Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the issuance and 
completion of a Building Permit for the removal of the existing second kitchen within the primary 
dwelling for the subject property; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of a Development Variance Permit for the subject property. 

2.0 Purpose  

To rezone the subject property to facilitate the conversion of an accessory building to a carriage 
house on the subject parcel. 

3.0 Community Planning  

Community Planning Staff supports the proposed rezoning application to allow the construction of 
a carriage house on the subject property. The S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential land use 
designation permits the proposed RU1c – Large Lot Housing with Carriage House zone. Currently 
the adjacent parcels contain single family dwellings with a few having carriage houses. Across 
Kinnear Court from the subject parcel is a large parking lot for the Bethel Church. 
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4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The existing 1 ½ storey single detached dwelling with a single attached garage was constructed 
in June of 1977. The existing accessory building was approved for construction in September of 
the same year. A second kitchen was approved for within the dwelling in June of 2003. Since that 
time, there have been multiple bylaw enforcement investigations regarding illegal suites. The 
applicant has since purchased the home and is taking measures to legalize the existing accessory 
building as a carriage house. The second kitchen will be removed from the dwelling to ensure 
bylaw compliance is addressed. 

4.2 Project Description 

The subject parcel is located within the 
Permanent Growth Boundary on the south side 
of Kinnear Court. At the time of construction, 
the accessory building met all of the Zoning 
Bylaw regulations. In rezoning the parcel to 
allow for the conversion of the accessory 
building to a carriage house, one variance is 
triggered. The required side yard setback of 
2.0 m would need a variance to be reduced to 
1.17 m proposed.  

Parking for the primary dwelling is accommodated at the front of the house with a single car 
attached garage and the driveway is able to accommodate an additional parking space. Parking 
for the carriage house is accessed from the rear lane. The parking space provided is large enough 
to accommodate 3 vehicles. Private amenity space is located beside the carriage house. A fence 

will be added to provide privacy between the primary 
dwelling and the carriage house. The addition of a lit 
pathway from the street to the carriage house will 
provide additional access. 

The requested variance to the east side setback will not 
negatively affect the adjacent parcel, as the 
neighbouring property has a raised planter bed garden 
which extends the length of the carriage house. This, 
along with the shed and fence in the adjacent rear yard, 
creates separation and privacy to the proposed carriage 
house. 
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4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the south side of Kinnear Court in the South Pandosy/KLO 
sector of Kelowna. 

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 
P2 – Education & Minor Institutional 
RU2c – Medium Lot Housing with Carriage 
House 

Religious Assembly 
Single Family Dwelling with Carriage 
House 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family Dwelling 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family Dwelling 

West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family Dwelling 

 
Subject Property Map:  

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU1c ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Min. Lot Area 550 m2 667 m2 

Min. Lot Width 16.5 m 18.23 m 

Min. Lot Depth 30 m 36.58 m 

Development Regulations 
Site Coverage 40% 29% 

Site Coverage: accessory 
buildings or structures and 
carriage house (one storey)  

20% 6.67% 
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Floor area of carriage house 
(footprint) 

100 m² 44.5 m² 

Max. area of carriage house 
(total building area) 

130 m² 44.5 m² 

Max. net floor area of carriage 
house to total net floor area of 

principal building 
75% 22.94% 

Height 
(mid point of roof) 

4.8 m 3.24 m  

Setback from Principal Dwelling 3.0 m 5.76 m 

Carriage House Regulations 
Max. Height 4.8 m 3.24 m 

Min. Side Yard (east) 2.0 m 1.17 m 

Min. Side Yard (west) 2.0 m 10.96 m 

Min. Rear Yard (with a lane) 0.9 m 1.52 m 

Height (carriage house shall not 
be higher than existing primary 

dwelling unit) 
1 1/2 storey ex. House 1 storey Carriage house 

Other Regulations 
Min. Parking Requirements 3 stalls +3 stalls provided 

Min. Private Open Space 30 m2 +30 m2 

 Indicates a requested variance to the side setback to a carriage house. 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 

applications.  

 Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation are being applied to this 
structure. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached Development Engineering memorandum. 

6.3 Bylaw Services 

 Bylaw Services has two open files for this property, an illegal suite in the main house and 

an illegal suite in the garage with numerous complaints received.  Records indicate an 
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“Affidavit for a second kitchen”, within the main dwelling, which has been misused with 

complaints for both units dating back to 2003. 

6.4 Fire Department 

 Requirements of section 9.10.19 Smoke Alarms and Carbon Monoxide alarms of the BCBC 

2012 are to be met.  

 All units shall have a posted address on Kinnear Court for emergency response. 

 Should a gate or fence be installed between main house and carriage house the gate is to 

open without special knowledge (locking device and have a clear width of 1100mm.  

 Emergency access is NOT from the lane to the south but from Kinnear Court. 

 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  September 24, 2015 
Date of Amended Plans Received:  January 27, 2016  
Date Public Consultation Completed: April 8, 2016  

Report prepared by: 

     
Lydia Korolchuk, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Terry Barton, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Attachment A: Development Engineering Memorandum dated October 27, 2015 

                                                                                                                                                             
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11242 
Z15-0050 – Carol Kergan  

845 Kinnear Court 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot 6, District Lot 135, ODYD, Plan 25798 located on Kinnear Court, 
Kelowna, B.C., from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU1c – Large Lot Housing 
with Carriage House zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 
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REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 2, 2016 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (LK) 

Application: Z15-0059 Owner: City of Kelowna 

Address: 
135 Mugford Road, 345 Rutland 
Road N 

Applicant: Peter Chataway 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: EDINST – Educational / Major Institutional 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: P2 - Education and Minor Institutional 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z15-0059 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of THAT part of Lot 3 which may be more particularly 
described as follows: commencing at the north east corner of the area covered by Plan B3922; 
thence following the north boundary of said Lot 3 Plan 2478 bearing south 89 degrees 48 minutes 
east for a distance of 50 feet; thence south 75 feet; thence bearing 89 degrees and 48 minutes 
west for a distance of 50 feet to the south east corner of the said area covered by Plan B3922; 
thence following the east boundary of said area north for a distance of 75 feet to the point of 
commencement, and containing by admeasurement 0.086 of an acre more or less; Section 26 
Township 26 ODYD Plan 2478, located at 135 Mugford Road, Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large 
Lot Housing zone to the P2 – Education and Minor Institutional zone; and by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot 1 Section 26 Township 26 ODYD Plan 9290, located at 345 Rutland Road N, 
Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the P2 – Education and Minor Institutional 
zone, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Rezoning Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the outstanding 
conditions of approval as set out in Schedule “A” attached to the Report from the Community 
Planning Department dated December 22,2015; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the approval of 
Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure; 
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AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of a Heritage Alteration Permit for the subject property. 

2.0 Purpose  

To rezone the subject properties to facilitate the redevelopment and adaptive re-use of the 
heritage building and site. 

3.0 Community Planning  

Community Planning Staff supports the proposed rezoning to permit the redevelopment of the 
subject properties, which includes the building known as old Saint Aidan’s Church. This is a highly 
visible location within the Rutland area at the corner of Rutland Road N and Mugford Road.  The 
historic church is listed on the municipal heritage registry for its association within the Anglican 
Church, its importance to the early community of Rutland and its architectural Arts and Crafts 
style. The proposed rezoning is consistent with the Official Community Plan (OCP) Future Land 
Use for the parcels. 

In 2013, the City of Kelowna commissioned the firm, Donald Luxton and Associates Inc., to 
provide an independent heritage impact statement of the proposed rehabilitation of the subject 
site. The purpose of the report was to evaluate the impact of the proposed development on 
character-defining elements of the historic church and to provide conservation recommendations 
to mitigate potential adverse impacts. The report concluded that the proposed changes to the 
building are acceptable from a heritage perspective and balanced with the proposed modern 
uses. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background     Lych Gate 

St. Aidan’s Anglican Church was built in 
1933 and is located on the corner parcel 
addressed at 365 Rutland Road N. The 
neighbourhood is mainly single family 
homes with multi-residential located across 
Rutland Road N. The church is a one-
storey, front gabled building. In 1938 an 
addition of the chancel at the rear of the 
building and the vestry on the north side 
was completed. In 1958, the front 
vestibule was enclosed as the original 
porch was relocated and reused as the Lych Gate. In 1990, the church was deconsecrated and 
purchased by the City of Kelowna. Currently, the structure is not occupied and exterior openings 
have been boarded up. The building is situated in a road right of way and cannot be preserved in 
its current location. The proposal will see it relocated centrally on the site. The character-
defining elements of materials, forms and spatial configurations will be preserved throughout the 
adaptive re-use and renovation. 

In 2009, St. Aidan’s Church was identified as high priority for conservation work through the 
City’s Heritage Asset Management Strategy. A Request for Expressions of Interest was put out in 
2012. The submission from the Okanagan Buddhist Cultural Society (OBCS) garnered further 
discussion. After the Request for Proposal (RFP) process, The City of Kelowna and OBCS signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding agreement (MOU) based on the premise that The City of Kelowna 
would sell the land to the OBCS. The MOU establishes the future conservation objectives and 
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acceptable uses with respect to the redevelopment and restoration of the old St. Aidan’s Church 
building. 

4.2 Project Description 

The goal is the adaptive re-use of the building with conservation of the structure and site in a 
manner that will showcase and celebrate it as a community heritage asset. The Society is 
proposing to conserve the existing old St. Aidan’s Church building. The three subject parcels will 
be consolidated and the structure centrally located on the new parcel. The proposed addition to 
the existing building will include a new entry on the north side of the chancel, a church hall and 
cultural centre on the south side of the chancel, a new foundation and site improvements. The 
changes to the site will include a parking area at the rear of the parcel and a publicly accessible 
Friendship Garden in the northwest corner. A Heritage Alteration Permit (HAP) will be required 
for the proposed changes and will be considered by Council at a later date, should the rezoning 
be successful, along with the requirement of a Heritage Designation (HD) in the form of a 
municipal bylaw. 

The proposal consists of three parcels which will be consolidated. 135 Mugford Road was 
purchased by the City in 1992 and was leased as an Early Years Learning Centre until it was 
demolished in the mid-2000’s. 345 Rutland Road was purchased by the City in 2004 and the single 
family dwelling was rented until it was demolished in 2014. 365 Rutland Road is the St. Aidan’s 
Church site. As part of the lot consolidation, future road widening requirements will see a 3.2 m 
road dedication along Rutland Road N and a 9.14 m road dedication along Mugford Road. This will 
include a new corner rounding. These requirements will establish the new property lines of the 
consolidated parcel. To ensure the provision of a future rear lane is possible, a road reserve will 
be registered.  

The redevelopment of the parcels will provide on-site parking, increase the accessibility of the 
site, and create an open and inviting garden area. The parking area will provide accessible 
parking with ramp access, a loading area and a turnaround stall.  

Staff views the proposed redevelopment of the site positively. The heritage building will be 
adaptively re-used with many of the original character defining elements preserved. Since the 
relocation of the structure is unavoidable due to the road widening requirement, the new central 
location ensures the building is still the prominent feature of the parcel. The proposed modern 
use of the building as a Cultural Centre will provide a positive contribution to the Rutland Town 
Centre. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject properties are located at the intersection of Rutland Road N and Mugford Road. The 
proposal consists of three parcels, 345 & 365 Rutland Rd N and 135 Mugford Rd which will be 
consolidated into one larger parcel. The Future Land Use Designation is EDINST – Educational / 
Major Institutional and is within the Rutland Urban Centre and the Permanent Growth Boundary. 

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Dwelling Housing 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Dwelling Housing 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Dwelling Housing 

West RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing Apartments 
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Subject Property Map:  

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA P2 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Minimum Lot Area 660 m2 1490 m2 (proposed lot) 

Minimum Lot Width 18 m 36.52 m 

Minimum Lot Depth 30 m 41.16 m 

Development Regulations 
Maximum Floor Area Ratio 1.0 0.20 

Maximum Site Coverage 
(buildings) 

40% 20.04% 

Maximum Site Coverage 
(buildings, driveways and 

parking) 
60%  

Maximum Height 13.5 m or 3 stories 6.7 m (proposed addition) 

Minimum Front Yard 6.0 m 6.10 m 

Minimum Side Yard (south) 4.5 m 4.9 m 

Minimum Side Yard (north) 6.0 m 14.36 m 

Minimum Rear Yard 7.5 m 19.2 m 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 21 21 

Minimum Bicycle Parking 5 5 

Minimum Loading Space 1 1 
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5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Heritage Register.1 Use the Kelowna Heritage Register for fully informed decision-making 
regarding land use of heritage properties. 

Heritage Designation.2 Encourage owners of properties listed in the Kelowna Heritage Register 
and identified as significant to voluntarily provide long-term heritage protection to their 
properties through the use of a Heritage Designation Bylaw. 

5.2 Heritage Conservation Area Development Guidelines 

Restoration Guidelines for Designated Heritage Sites.3  

 Authenticity to the architectural style, original site configuration, landscaping and 
auxiliary structures are encouraged to be adhere to for all restorations. 

 Colour schemes are encouraged to be authentic to the period and architectural style of 
the designated building. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

 Placement permits are required for any sales or construction trailers that will be on site. 
The location(s) of these are to be shown at time of development permit application.  

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications. 

 Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure room(s). 
The drawings submitted for building permit is to clearly identify how this rating will be 
achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

 An exit analysis is required as part of the code analysis at time of building permit 
application. The exit analysis is to address travel distances within the units, multiple 
parking areas (future), number of required exits per area, accessibility etc 

 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development permit. 
This should include the signage required for the building addressing to be defined on the 
drawings per the bylaws on the permit application drawings. 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation are being applied 
to this structure. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See Attachment “A” 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.7.1 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.7.2 (Development Process Chapter). 
3 City of Kelowna Abbott Street & Marshall Street Heritage Conservation Area, Policy 4.11 (Development Guidelines). 
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6.3 Fire Department 

 A construction fire safety plan is required to be submitted prior to the start of 
construction 

 Should the occupant load be above 300 a fire alarm shall be installed. Should the fire 
alarm be required, an approved Fire Department steel lock box or key tube acceptable to 
the fire dept. is required by the fire dept. entrance.  

 Assembly occupancy requires a fire safety plan as per section 2.8 BCFC at occupancy. The 
fire safety plan and floor plans are to be submitted for approval in AutoCAD Drawing 
format on a CD. 

 All requirements of the City of Kelowna Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 10760 shall be met. 

 Contact Fire Prevention Branch for fire extinguisher requirements and placement. 

 dumpster/refuse container must be 3 meters from structures or overhangs  

6.4 Ministry of Transportation 

 Based on the materials provided November 9, 2015, Preliminary Approval is granted for 
this rezoning for one year pursuant to section 52(3)(a) of the Transportation Act. 

Please provide the final bylaw after third reading to this Ministry for final approval. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  November 6, 2015  
Date Public Consultation Completed: January 4, 2016  

Report prepared by: 

     
Lydia Korolchuk, Planner 
 

Reviewed by:    Terry Barton, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 

Attachments:  

Site Context Plan 
Schedule A: Site plan & Floor plans 
Schedule B: Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Attachment A: Development Engineering Memorandum 
Attachment B: Rutland Waterworks District Letter 
Attachment C: Statement of Significance 
Attachment D: Heritage Register 
Attachment E: Memorandum of Understanding 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11243 
Z15-0059 – City of Kelowna  

135 Mugford Road & 345 Rutland Road N 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of that part of Lot 3 which may be more particularly described as 
follows: commencing at the north east corner of the area covered by Plan B3922; 
thence following the north boundary of said Lot 3, Plan 2478 bearing south 89 degrees 
48 minutes east for a distance of 50 feet; thence south 75 feet; thence bearing 89 
degrees and 48 minutes west for a distance of 50 feet to the south east corner of the 
said area covered by Plan B3922; thence following the east boundary of said area 
north for a distance of 75 feet to the point of commencement, and containing by 
admeasurement 0.086 of an acre more or less; Section 26, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 
2478 located on Mugford Road, Kelowna, B.C., and Lot 1, Section 26, Township 26, 
ODYD, Plan 9290, located on Rutland Road N, Kelowna, B.C., from the RU1 – Large Lot 
Housing zone to the P2 – Education and Minor Institutional zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk 
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REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 2, 2016 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (RR) 

Application: Z15-0053 / OCP15-0016 Owner: 
Raif Holdings Ltd., 

Inc. No. 129371 

Address: 820 Finns Road Applicant: McBeetle Holdings Ltd 

Subject: OCP Amendment and Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: IND - Industrial 

Proposed OCP Designation: SC – Service Commercial 

Existing Zone: A1 - Agriculture 

Proposed Zone: C10 – Service Commercial  

 

1.0 Recommendation 

 THAT Official Community Plan Map Amendment Application No. OCP15-0016 to amend Map 4.1 in 
the Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of Lot 1, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18592 located at 820 Finns Road, 
Kelowna, BC from the IND - Industrial designation to the SC – Service Commercial and PARK – 
Major Park/Open Space designations be considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z15-0053 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot 1, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18592, 
located at 820 Finns Road, Kelowna, BC from the A1 – Agriculture zone to the C10 – Service 
Commercial and P3 – Parks and Open Space zones be considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT the OCP Amending Bylaw and Rezoning Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for 
further consideration;  
 
AND THAT Council considers the Public Information Session public process to be appropriate 
consultation for the Purpose of Section 475 of the Local Government Act, as outlined in the 
Report from the Community Planning Department dated May 2, 2016; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered in conjunction with Council’s 
consideration of a Form and Character Development Permit for the subject property. 
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AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered in conjunction with the issuance of 
an Environmental Development Permit for the subject property. 

AND FURTHER THAT prior to final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw, that the Riparian Management 
Area be dedicated to the City as protected area.  

2.0 Purpose  

To amend the Official Community Plan to change the future land use designation and rezone the 
subject property to allow the lands to be used for service commercial development. 

3.0 Community Planning  

Community Planning recommends that the bylaws be given initial consideration and forwarded to 
public hearing. The property is currently vacant and, given its size and location, is unlikely to be 
developed for agricultural use. The property is not within the ALR.  

While the Official Community Plan designates the property for industrial use, the amendment to 
Service Commercial is in keeping with the neighbourhood development pattern. The proposed use 
on the site, a car dealership, is also in keeping with similar land uses along Highway 97 in the 
area. Orchard Ford is located to the south of the property, and an application for a new 
automotive dealership has been received for another dealership on an adjoining property.  

Prior to any development occurring, the applicant will be required to apply for a Development 
Permit.  

 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The property is an undeveloped lot between Highway 97 and Finns Road. The property is 
currently zoned A1 – Agriculture, but is not being used for any agricultural purposes. The 
property is currently designated for future Industrial use in the OCP Future Land Use Map.  

The subject property, as well as several in the area, are subject to negotiations regarding land 
swaps for the highway expansion and future road re-alignments. The land swap will not effect 
the applicant’s development plans for the site, and the property will be usable as a C10 zoned 
parcel after the swap is completed.  

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant has made application to amend the Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw to 
allow the property to be used for service commercial purposes under the C10 zone. The applicant 
has indicated that the property will be used as a car dealership. Designs for the dealership will 
be submitted as part of the development permit, which will be a condition of zoning bylaw 
approval. 

4.3 Site Context 

The property is a vacant parcel that tapers out between Highway 97 and Finns Road. It is located 
in an area with primarily service commercial uses, with a boat storage and business park nearby.  

The property will be impacted by the 6-laning of Highway 97, and a 15 m road dedication will be 
required along the northerly property line for future road alignment.  
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Gopher Creek runs near the south boundary of the property. While the creek itself is outside of 
the property, a portion of the 15 m riparian management area runs into the property. This land 
will be dedicated to the city as a condition of bylaw adoption for its long term protection.  

 

 

 

 

 

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Subject 
Property 

Subject 
Property 

Stremel Road 
OCP16-0001 
Z16-0006 
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Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North I2 – General Industrial Boat Storage / Building 

East I1 – Business Industrial Business Park 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residence 

West A1 - Agriculture Vacant / Pasture 

 

Subject Property Map:  
 

 
 
 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  
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5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Service Commercial (SC) 

Developments for the provision of business support services and other commercial uses 
requiring extensive on-site storage. Building densities would be consistent with the 
provision of the C10 zone of the Zoning Bylaw. 

Riparian Management Area 

 Table 12.1 establishes a 15m Riparian Management Area around Francis Brook Creek. 

Dedication of Linear Parks.  

At subdivision and rezoning for all development types secure a minimum 10-metre wide 
linear corridor for public access as included in Table 5.1 Linear Park – Public Access 
and/or are shown on Map 5.9 – Linear Corridors / Paths. The 10-metre wide corridor may 
be in addition to, and outside, any riparian management area requirements imposed 
through the Environmental Development Permit (see Chapter 12) requirements of the 
OCP. On the private property side of the public access corridor, the City may, as 
necessary, consider stipulating additional “no disturb” zones. Lot line adjustments or 
other subdivision applications not resulting in the creation of new lots suitable for the 
construction of buildings permitted under the applicable zoning will be considered exempt 
from this policy. 

5.2 Public Notification & Consultation for Development Applications Policy #367 

The applicant has delivered notifications to surrounding property owners.  

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

No concerns at this time, will make further comments during the Development Permit Process.  

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached document dated October 29, 2015. 

6.3 Bylaw Services 

No concerns 

6.4 Iplan / Parks Planning 

1 1.  The RMA should be dedicated titled property in favour of the City and zoned P3 Parks 
and Open Space for environmental protection, drainage and recreation. 

2.  A 1.2m high black chain link fence built to City standards should be installed 15cm inside 
the new western private property line to delineate the private / public parkland. 

6.4 Fire Department 

No concerns at this time, will make further comments during the Development Permit 
Process.  

6.5 Ministry of Transportation 

No concerns at this time, bylaw will require Ministry approval. 
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7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  Sept. 21, 2015  

Report prepared by: 

     
Ryan Roycroft, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Terry Barton, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 
 

Attachments: 

Development Engineering Memorandum 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date: October 29, 2015 
File No.: Z15-0053  
 
To: Urban Planning (RR) 
 
From: Development Engineering Manager     
 
Subject: 820 Finns Road Zone: A-1 to C-10                         
 
 
The Development Engineering Department has the following comments and requirements 
associated with this application. The road and utility upgrading requirements outlined in this 
report will be a requirement of this development. 
 
These are Development Engineering comments/requirements and are subject to the review and 
requirements from the Ministry of Transportation (MOTI) Infrastructure Branch. 
 
The Development Engineering Technologist for this project is Jason Ough 
 
 
1. General 

 
These are Development Engineering comments/requirements and are subject to the 
review and requirements from the Ministry of Transportation (MOTI) Infrastructure 
Branch. 

 
 
2. Domestic Water and Fire Protection 
 

(a) The property is located within the Black Mountain Irrigation District (BMID) 
service area. The water system must be capable of supplying domestic and fire 
flow demands of the project in accordance with the Subdivision, Development & 
Servicing Bylaw 

 
(b) A water meter is mandatory for each property and must be installed inside the 

building on the water service inlet as required by the City Plumbing Regulation 
and Water Regulation bylaws. The developer or building contractor must 
purchase the meter from the City at the time of application for a building permit 
from the Inspection Services Department, and prepare the meter setter at his 
cost. Boulevard landscaping, complete with underground irrigation system, must 
be integrated with the on-site irrigation system.   

 
 
3. Sanitary Sewer 
 

The developer’s consulting mechanical engineer will determine the development 
requirements of the proposed development and establish the service needs. The existing 
lot is serviced with a 150mm diameter sanitary service. Only one service per lot will be 
permitted for this development. If required, the applicant will arrange for the removal and 
disconnection of the existing service and the installation of one new larger service at the 
applicants cost.   
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4. Storm Drainage         
 
The developer must engage a consulting civil engineer to provide a storm water 
management plan for the site, which meets the requirements of the Subdivision, 
Development and Servicing Bylaw No. 7900. The storm water management plan must 
also include provision of lot grading plan, minimum basement elevation (MBE), if 
applicable, and provision of a storm drainage service for the development and / or 
recommendations for onsite drainage containment and disposal systems. 

 
 

5. Road Improvements and Dedication   
     

(a) There is a project identified in the 2010 - 2030 OCP to extend Fitzpatrick Road to 
the west and connect to Highway 97 N.  The developer is required to provide a 
15m road dedication area along the north property line of 820 Finns Road.  
   

(i) The developer will submit an engineered design with the following 
dimensions measured from the existing property line: 
0.45m Curb, (2) 4.9m lanes, 0.45m curb, 2.5m Blvd, 1.5m sidewalk and 
0.3m gap to the property line. 

 
(ii) Design will include piped storm drainage system, fillet pavement, 

boulevard grading street lights, and adjustment and/or re-location of 
existing utility appurtenances, if required, to accommodate this 
construction.   
 

(iii) Parallel right turn lane will be designed to BC MOTI standards and with 
required property corner rounding and island with crosswalk. 
 

(b) The Ministry of Transportation Hwy 97 widening project design is near 
completion.  The developer is responsible for Highway 97 frontage improvements 
as per MOTI design and bonding is required for these works. Please contact 
Andrew Albiston for design details. 

 
(i) Parallel right turn lane should be designed to BC MOT standards and 

with required property corner rounding and island with crosswalk; 
 

(c) Finns Road must be upgraded to a full urban standard (SS-R5)  
 
(ii) Design will include separate sidewalk, landscaped boulevard complete 

with street trees, curb and gutter, piped storm drainage system, fillet 
pavement, boulevard grading street lights, and adjustment and/or re-
location of existing utility appurtenances, if required, to accommodate 
this construction.   

 
(d) The estimated cost of required road improvment works, for bonding purpose, 

must be determined based upon a design provided by the developer to be 
reviewed by the City of Kelowna and MOTI. 

 
  
6. Electric Power and Telecommunication Services 
 

The electrical and telecommunication services to this building must be installed in 
an underground duct system, and the building must be connected by an 
underground service.  It is the developer’s responsibility to make a servicing 
application with the respective electric power, telephone and cable transmission 
companies to arrange for these services, which would be at the applicant’s cost. 
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7. Design and Construction 
 
(a) Design, construction supervision and inspection of all off-site civil works and site 

servicing must be performed by a Consulting Civil Engineer and all such work is 
subject to the approval of the City Engineer.  Drawings must conform to City 
standards and requirements. 

 
(b) Engineering drawing submissions are to be in accordance with the City’s 

“Engineering Drawing Submission Requirements” Policy.  Please note the 
number of sets and drawings required for submissions. 

 
(c) Quality Control and Assurance Plans must be provided in accordance with the 

Subdivision, Development & Servicing Bylaw No. 7900 (refer to Part 5 and 
Schedule 3). 

 
(d) A “Consulting Engineering Confirmation Letter” (City document ‘C’) must be 

completed prior to submission of any designs. 
 

(e) Before any construction related to the requirements of this subdivision application 
commences, design drawings prepared by a professional engineer must be 
submitted to the City’s Development Engineering Department.  The design 
drawings must first be “Issued for Construction” by the City Engineer.  On 
examination of design drawings, it may be determined that rights-of-way are 
required for current or future needs. 

 
 

8. Servicing Agreements for Works and Services 
 
(a) A Servicing Agreement is required for all offsite works and services on City lands 

in accordance with the Subdivision, Development & Servicing Bylaw No. 7900.  
The applicant’s Engineer, prior to preparation of Servicing Agreements, must 
provide adequate drawings and estimates for the required works.  The Servicing 
Agreement must be in the form as described in Schedule 2 of the bylaw. 

 
(b) Part 3, “Security for Works and Services”, of the Bylaw, describes the Bonding 

and Insurance requirements of the Owner.  The liability limit is not to be less than 
$5,000,000 and the City is to be named on the insurance policy as an additional 
insured.    

 
 

9. Other Engineering Comments 
 
(a) Provide all necessary Statutory Rights-of-Way for any utility corridors required, 

including those on proposed or existing City Lands. 
 

(b) If any road dedication affects lands encumbered by a Utility right-of-way (such as 
Terasen, etc.) please obtain the approval of the utility prior to application for final 
subdivision approval.  Any works required by the utility as a consequence of the 
road dedication must be incorporated in the construction drawings submitted to 
the City’s Development Manager. 

 
 

10. Development Permit and Site Related Issues 
 
(a) Access and Manoeuvrability    

 
(i) An SU-9 standard size vehicle must be able to manoeuvre onto and off 

the site without requiring a reverse movement onto public roadways. If 
the development plan intends to accommodate larger vehicles 
movements should also be illustrated on the site plan. 
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(ii) Perimeter access must comply with the BC Building Code. Fire Truck 

access designs and proposed hydrant locations will be reviewed by the 
Fire Protection Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_________________________________________ 
Steve Muenz, P. Eng. 
Development Engineering Manager 
 
jo 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11246 
 

Official Community Plan Amendment No. OCP15-0016 
Raif Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. 129371 

820 Finns Road 

 
A bylaw to amend the "Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. THAT Map 4.1 - GENERALIZED FUTURE LAND USE of “Kelowna 2030 – Official 

Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500” be amended by changing the Generalized Future 
Land Use designation of portions of Lot 1, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18592, 
located on Finns Road, Kelowna, B.C., from the IND – Industrial designation to the SC – 
Service Commercial designation and PARK – Major Park / Open Space designation as 
per Map “A” attached to and forming part of this bylaw; 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this  
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the  
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this  
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11247 
Z15-0053 – Raif Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. 129371  

820 Finns Road 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of portions of Lot 1, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18592 located 
on Finns Road, Kelowna, B.C., from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the C10 – Service 
Commercial zone and P3 – Parks and Open Space zone as per Map “B” attached to and 
forming part of this bylaw. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 

  

125



 

126



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 2, 2016 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (RR) 

Application: Z16-0006 Owner: McBeetle Holdings 

Address: 894 Stremel Road Applicant: McBeetle Holdings 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: IND - Industrial 

Proposed OCP Designation: COMM – Commercial / PARK – Major Park /Open Space 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: C10 – Service Commercial / P3 – Parks and Open Space 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

 
THAT Official Community Plan Map Amendment Application No. OCP16-0001 to amend Map 4.1 in 
the Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 by changing the Future Land Use 

designation of portions of Lot A, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD Plan EPP53299 located at 
894 Stremel Road, Kelowna, BC from the IND - Industrial designation to the SC – Service 
Commercial designation and the PARK – Major Park / Open Space designation, as shown on Map 
“A” attached to the Report from the Community Planning Department dated May 2, 2016 be 
considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z16-0006 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 

8000 by changing the zoning classification of portions of Lot A, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD 
Plan EPP53299 located at 894 Stremel Road Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone 
to the C-10 Service Commercial and P3 – Parks and Open Space zone as shown on Map “A” 
attached to the Report from the Community Planning Department dated May 2, 2016, be 
considered by Council;  
 
AND THAT the OCP Amending Bylaw and Rezoning Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for 
further consideration;  
 
AND THAT Council considers the Public Hearing process to be appropriate consultation for the 
Purpose of Section 475 of the Local Government Act; 
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AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the outstanding 
conditions of approval as set out in Schedule “A” attached to the Report from the Community 
Planning Department dated April 25th, 2016); 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered in conjunction with the issuance of 
an Environmental Development Permit for the subject property; 

AND THAT prior to final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw, that the Riparian Management Area be 
dedicated to the City as protected area; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of a Form and Character Development Permit for the subject property. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider an OCP and Zoning Bylaw amendment application to rezone a portion of the subject 
property to facilitate the construction of an automobile dealer, and dedicate a portion of the 
property as parkland.  

3.0 Community Planning  

Community Planning supports granting the bylaws first reading and advancing them to Public 
Hearing. The proposed use, a luxury car dealership, is not out of character for the area. There is 
already a car dealership directly to the south of the site and a proposal for another two 
dealerships to the north.  

The rezoning will allow the City to acquire and protect land along Francis Brook Creek. The City 
will acquire 10 m to the north of the creek and the majority of the lands to the south, exceeding 
15 m is depth. Francis Brook Creek is an important drainage corridor and habitat area, and the 
City will be able to protect it in perpetuity.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject property has been reconfigured as part of the Highway 97 six laning project. The City 
Real Estate group has worked closely with the owner and the Ministry of Transportation to realign 
roads in the area to best accommodate the highway and leave developable properties.  

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant would like to construct an automobile dealership on the subject property. The first 
stages of the approvals process will require that the property be re-zoned and the OCP amended. 

The OCP would be amended from Industrial to Service Commercial and Major Park/Open Space.  
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The proposed rezoning would amend the bylaw to zone the portion of land along Highway 97 to 
C10 – Service Commercial. Lands along the creek would be rezoned P3 – Park and Open Space. 10 
m of property north of the creek will be dedicated to the City, and 15 m or more along the south 
will be dedicated. This flexible approach will maximize habitat protection on the south side of 
the creek, while leaving a viable development site to the north.  

As part of the application, the applicant has submitted a further application for a Porsche 
dealership on the Highway 97 portion of the property. This application cannot be approved until 
such time as the property has been rezoned for commercial use.  

 

 

C10  Service 
Commercial 

P3 Parks & 
Open Space 

P3 Parks & 
Open Space 

Lands 
Remaining 
Ru1 – Large 
Lot Housing 
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4.3 Site Context 

The portion of the property to be developed is along Highway 97. It is north of the Orchard Ford 
dealership, in a light industrial and service commercial neighbourhood. The owner of the 
property has also applied to re-zone the parcel to the north to allow an additional automobile 
dealership.  
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1 Reconfigured Properties 

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North I1 – Business Park Industrial Light Industrial Rental 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

South C10 – Service Commercial  Automotive Dealer 

West Highway 97 Highway 97 

 

Subject Property Map: @ 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA @ ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Minimum Lot Area 1,000 m2 5,400 m2 

Minimum Lot Width 30 m 35 m 

894 Stremel 

Stremel Road 

Fi
nn
s 
R
oa
d 
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Minimum Lot Depth 40 m 125 m 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Service Commercial (SC) 

Developments for the provision of business support services and other commercial uses 
requiring extensive on-site storage. Building densities would be consistent with the 
provision of the C10 zone of the Zoning Bylaw. 

Riparian Management Area 

 Table 12.1 establishes a 15m Riparian Management Area around Francis Brook Creek. 

Dedication of Linear Parks.  

At subdivision and rezoning for all development types secure a minimum 10-metre wide 
linear corridor for public access as included in Table 5.1 Linear Park – Public Access 
and/or are shown on Map 5.9 – Linear Corridors / Paths. The 10-metre wide corridor may 
be in addition to, and outside, any riparian management area requirements imposed 
through the Environmental Development Permit (see Chapter 12) requirements of the 
OCP. On the private property side of the public access corridor, the City may, as 
necessary, consider stipulating additional “no disturb” zones. Lot line adjustments or 
other subdivision applications not resulting in the creation of new lots suitable for the 
construction of buildings permitted under the applicable zoning will be considered exempt 
from this policy. 

5.2 Public Notification & Consultation for Development Applications Policy #367 

The applicant has delivered notifications to surrounding property owners.  

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s) for new construction 

2 This building may be required to be sprinklered throughout. It appears that this building 
has three major occupancies as per the building code . Any proposed deviance from this 
requirement of BCBC 12 requires an approved alternate solution report to be submitted 
and approved by the architect of record prior to the release of the Development Permit.  

3 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage at 
time of building permit application. This property falls within the Mill Creek flood plain 
bylaw area and compliance is required. Minimum building elevations are required to be 
established prior to the release of the Development Permit. This minimum Geodetic 
elevation is required for all habitable spaces. This building may be designed to low, which 
may affect the form and character of the building. 

4 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

4.1 The British Columbia Building Code (BCBC 2012) may define this development as 
two separate buildings with possibly three separate major occupancies (D & E in 
building 1 and D & F2 in building #2). If a firewall is to be utilized, a complete 
building code analysis would be required to be reviewed prior to complete 
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comments (at time of building permit application) being provided for the spatial 
separation between the two buildings. Fire shutters would be a requirement and 
hooked to the fire alarm system to allow for the unprotected openings between 
buildings and a 900mm High non combustible fire wall must be constructed to 
separate the two structures. A 900mm high firewall parapet will affect the form 
and character of the building(s). 

4.2 The exits from the building do not appear to meet minimum code requirements 
(number of exits, travel distance, etc). The code analysis is to contain a plan 
showing travel distances along with a code compliance analysis for the 
interconnected floors, 2nd stories, horizontal exits, convenience stairs and rated 
stairwell exits. This can be submitted at time of building permit application, but 
additional exterior doors may be required depending on the code analysis, which 
may affect the form and character of the building(s).  

4.3 Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the code 
analysis by the architect 

4.4 Access to the roof is required per NFPA and guard rails may be required and should 
be reflected in the plans if required. 

4.5 Mechanical Ventilation inlet and exhausts vents are not clearly defined in these 
drawings. Screening of this equipment may be required and should be addressed as 
part of the Development permit. 

4.6 Interior climbable guardrails are not code compliant as depicted in the illustrations 
and are required to be defined at time of permit application 

5 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development permit 

6 Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure room(s). 
The drawings submitted for building permit is to clearly identify how this rating will be 
achieved and where these area(s) are located. Refer to fire department bylaws for 
placement of exterior garbage containers in relation to the building. 

7 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation are being applied to 
this structure. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Memorandum dated April 8, 2016. 

6.3 Fire Department 

The Fire Department has no issues with the zoning change 
 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  January 15, 2016 
Date referrals completed:   April 8, 2016 

Report prepared by: 
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Ryan Roycroft, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Terry Barton, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date: April 12, 2016 
 
File No.: Z16-0006  
 
To: Urban Planning Management (RR) 
 
From: Development Engineering Manager (SM)     
 
Subject: 894 Stremel Road Lot 11   Plan 3236   Zone: RU1 to C10 
                        
 
 
The Development Engineering Department has the following comments and requirements 
associated with this application. The road and utility upgrading requirements outlined in this 
report will be a requirement of this development. 
 
These are Development Engineering comments/requirements and are subject to the review and 
requirements from the Ministry of Transportation (MOTI) Infrastructure Branch. 
 
The Development Engineering Technologist for this project is Jason Ough 
 
 
1. General 

 
a) These are Development Engineering comments/requirements and are subject to 

the review and requirements from the Ministry of Transportation (MOTI) 
Infrastructure Branch.  

 
b) This proposed subdivision may require the installation of centralized mail delivery 

equipment. Please contact Rick Ould, Delivery Planning Officer, Canada Post 
Corporation, 530 Gaston Avenue, Kelowna, BC, V1Y 2K0 (250-763-3558 ext. 
2008) to obtain further information and to determine suitable location(s) within the 
development. 

 
c) The 2030 OCP identifies a linear park project that must be included in the 

development plan.  This public corridor will follow Francis Brook through the 
subject property. 
 

 
d) Where there is a possibility of a high water table or surcharging of storm drains 

during major storm events, non-basement homes may be required.  This must be 
determined by the engineer and detailed on the Lot Grading Plan required in the 
drainage section. 

 
 
2. Geotechnical Report 
 

Provide a comprehensive geotechnical report, prepared by a Professional Engineer 
competent in the field of hydro-geotechnical engineering to address the items below:  
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NOTE:  The City is relying on the Geotechnical Engineer’s report to prevent any 
damage to property and/or injury to persons from occurring as a result of 
problems with soil slippage or soil instability related to this proposed subdivision.  

 
(i) Area ground water characteristics, including any springs and overland 

surface drainage courses traversing the property.  Identify any monitoring 
required. 

 
(ii) Site suitability for development. 

 
(iii) Site soil characteristics (i.e. fill areas, sulphate content, unsuitable soils 

such as organic material, etc.). 
 

(iv) Any special requirements for construction of roads, utilities and building 
structures. 

 
(v) Suitability of on-site disposal of storm water and sanitary waste, including 

effects upon adjoining lands. 
 

(vi) Recommendations for items that should be included in a Restrictive 
Covenant. 

 
(vii) Any items required in other sections of this document. 

 
(viii) Recommendations for erosion and sedimentation controls for water and 

wind. 
 

(ix) Recommendations for roof drains and perimeter drains. 
 

(x) Recommendations for construction of detention or infiltration ponds if 
applicable. 

 
 
3. Domestic Water and Fire Protection 
 

a) The property is located within Black Mountain Irrigation District (BMID) service 
area. The water system must be capable of supplying domestic and fire flow 
demands of the project in accordance with the Subdivision, Development & 
Servicing Bylaw.  The developer is responsible, if necessary, to arrange with 
BMID staff for any service improvements and the decommissioning of existing 
services.   

 
b) Boulevard landscape irrigation system, must be integrated with the on-site 

irrigation system. 
 
 
4. Sanitary Sewer 
 

The developer’s consulting mechanical engineer will determine the development 
requirements of the proposed development and establish the service needs. The 
existing lot is serviced with a 150mm diameter sanitary service. Only one service per lot 
will be permitted for this development. If required, the applicant will arrange for the 
removal and disconnection of the existing service and the installation of one new larger 
service at the applicants cost.   
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5. Storm Drainage         
 
The developer must engage a consulting civil engineer to provide a storm water 
management plan for the site, which meets the requirements of the Subdivision, 
Development and Servicing Bylaw No. 7900. The storm water management plan must 
also include provision of lot grading plan, minimum basement elevation (MBE), if 
applicable, and provision of a storm drainage service for the development and / or 
recommendations for onsite drainage containment and disposal systems. 

 
 

6. Road Improvements and Dedication   
     

(a) Property frontage on Finns Road must be upgraded to a full urban standard (SS-
R5).  
Design will include separate sidewalk, landscaped boulevard complete with 
street trees, curb and gutter, piped storm drainage system, fillet pavement, 
boulevard grading street lights, and adjustment and/or re-location of existing 
utility appurtenances, if required, to accommodate this construction.  

 
(b) Property frontage on Stremel Road must be upgraded to a full urban standard 

(SS-R5).  
Design will include separate sidewalk, landscaped boulevard complete with 
street trees, curb and gutter, piped storm drainage system, fillet pavement, 
boulevard grading street lights, and adjustment and/or re-location of existing 
utility appurtenances, if required, to accommodate this construction.   

 
(c) The estimated cost of required road improvement works, for bonding purpose, 

must be determined based upon a design provided by the developer to be 
reviewed by the City of Kelowna and MOTI. 

 
  
7. Electric Power and Telecommunication Services 
 

The electrical and telecommunication services to this building must be installed in an 
underground duct system, and the building must be connected by an underground 
service.  It is the developer’s responsibility to make a servicing application with the 
respective electric power, telephone and cable transmission companies to arrange for 
these services, which would be at the applicant’s cost. 
 
 

8. Design and Construction 
 
(a) Design, construction supervision and inspection of all off-site civil works and site 

servicing must be performed by a Consulting Civil Engineer and all such work is 
subject to the approval of the City Engineer.  Drawings must conform to City 
standards and requirements. 

 
(b) Engineering drawing submissions are to be in accordance with the City’s 

“Engineering Drawing Submission Requirements” Policy.  Please note the 
number of sets and drawings required for submissions. 

 
(c) Quality Control and Assurance Plans must be provided in accordance with the 

Subdivision, Development & Servicing Bylaw No. 7900 (refer to Part 5 and 
Schedule 3). 

 
(d) A “Consulting Engineering Confirmation Letter” (City document ‘C’) must be 

completed prior to submission of any designs. 
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(e) Before any construction related to the requirements of this subdivision application 
commences, design drawings prepared by a professional engineer must be 
submitted to the City’s Development Engineering Department.  The design 
drawings must first be “Issued for Construction” by the City Engineer.  On 
examination of design drawings, it may be determined that rights-of-way are 
required for current or future needs. 

 
 

9. Servicing Agreements for Works and Services 
 
(a) A Servicing Agreement is required for all offsite works and services on City lands 

in accordance with the Subdivision, Development & Servicing Bylaw No. 7900.  
The applicant’s Engineer, prior to preparation of Servicing Agreements, must 
provide adequate drawings and estimates for the required works.  The Servicing 
Agreement must be in the form as described in Schedule 2 of the bylaw. 

 
(b) Part 3, “Security for Works and Services”, of the Bylaw, describes the Bonding 

and Insurance requirements of the Owner.  The liability limit is not to be less than 
$5,000,000 and the City is to be named on the insurance policy as an additional 
insured.    

 
 

10. Other Engineering Comments 
 
(a) Provide all necessary Statutory Rights-of-Way for any utility corridors required, 

including those on proposed or existing City Lands. 
 

(b) If any road dedication affects lands encumbered by a Utility right-of-way (such as 
Terasen, etc.) please obtain the approval of the utility prior to application for final 
subdivision approval.  Any works required by the utility as a consequence of the 
road dedication must be incorporated in the construction drawings submitted to 
the City’s Development Manager. 

 
 

11. Development Permit and Site Related Issues 
 
(a) Access and Manoeuvrability    

 
(i) An SU-9 standard size vehicle must be able to manoeuvre onto and off 

the site without requiring a reverse movement onto public roadways. If 
the development plan intends to accommodate larger vehicles 
movements should also be illustrated on the site plan. 

 
(ii) Perimeter access must comply with the BC Building Code. Fire Truck 

access designs and proposed hydrant locations will be reviewed by the 
Fire Protection Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_________________________________________ 
Steve Muenz, P. Eng. 
Development Engineering Manager 
 
jo 
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Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
April 27, 2016 
 

File: 
 

0165-30 

To:  
 

Council 
 

From: 
 

City Manager 

Subject: 
 

Quarterly report update – Q1 2016 

 Report Prepared by: Summer Effray, Communications Consultant 

 

Recommendation: 
 
That Council receives, for information, the Quarterly Report from the City Manager, dated 
April 27, 2016 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide Council with an update of the City’s activities for the first quarter of 2016. 
 
Background: 
 
The attached presentation provides a brief summary of some key activities undertaken in the 
last quarter by the corporation.   
 
The content of the presentation continues to evolve and staff welcomes Council’s suggestions 
in ensuring the report is both informative and timely for our community. All contributors and 
contributing departments are not expected to attend the Council presentation, however if 
Council has specific questions that require a staff member attend the meeting, it is requested 
that the City Clerk be advised in advance of the meeting. 
 
A collection of current and past quarterly report presentations can be found online. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Content provided by Divisional Directors 
City Manager 
Communications Supervisor 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
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Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
Ron Mattiussi, City Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                
 
 
cc: Divisional Directors 
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Q U A RT E R LY  R E P O RT
January to March 2016
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A W E L L - R U N  C I T Y

Civic Block Plan
Endorsed March 14

Pedestrian & Bicycle 
Master Plan

Public engagement 
activities

Okanagan Rail Corridor 
Development Plan
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A W E L L - R U N  C I T Y

2030 Infrastructure Plan
Development Cost Charge 
update
Capital Projects 
presentation & open house

kelowna.ca/cityprojects
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A S T R O N G  E C O N O M Y

Kelowna International Airport (YLW)
 445,546 passengers

 Up 7.8%
 Spring Travel Event

 2,500 attendees
 Acquired golf course for future land use
 Construction underway:

 Expansion of terminal building & outbound 
baggage hall
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A S T R O N G  E C O N O M Y

Development applications up 30%
Busiest year since 2000

Permits for 600 rental housing units
$130M in building permits

2014 2015 2016
Q1 building 

permits
$74M $113M $131M
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A S T R O N G  E C O N O M Y

QHR joins dark fibre 
network

Business development
244 enquiries
15 site visits
24 one-on-one follow 
ups

https://youtu.be/gqNVsdG5O18
watch the video to learn about the 
City’s dark fibre network or visit 

kelowna.ca/darkfibre
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A N  A C T I V E ,  I N C L U S I V E  C I T Y

Cultural grants
artsVest III
Hosted 8 sport 
tournaments & 
events
13th annual Sport 
Hero Awards
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A N  A C T I V E ,  I N C L U S I V E  C I T Y

kelowna.ca/activebynature
#ActivebyNature
Check out the winter video!
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https://youtu.be/bOl8ZaE_P_o


A N  A C T I V E ,  I N C L U S I V E  C I T Y

Kelowna Community Theatre 
& Black Box 

Lighting improvements
26% increase in attendance
27 % increase in performances
Highlights: 

Vance Joy, Jay Ingram, Naomi 
Klein, CBC’s The Irrelevant Show, 
The Wailers & The Royal Winnipeg 
Ballet
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A C L E A N ,  H E A LT H Y  
E N V I R O N M E N T

 7,900 Ponderosa Pine planted
 Energy conservation at Rutland Twin Arena
 Adam’s Reservoir UV Treatment Facility
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R E S I L I E N T,  W E L L - M A N A G E D  
I N F R A S T R U C T U R E

Project updates
Kelowna Police Services 
Building

Construction timelapse

Parkades
Munson Pond Park
Rutland Centennial Park
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R E S I L I E N T,  W E L L - M A N A G E D  
I N F R A S T R U C T U R E

Project updates, continued…
 Ethel Active Transportation Corridor
 Transit stop construction 
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Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 2, 2016 
 

File: 
 

0910-01 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Divisional Director Corporate and Protective Services 

Subject: 
 

RTC 2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy 2016-05-02.docx 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT council approve and endorse the 2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy document as 
outlined in the report from the Divisional Director Corporate and Protective Services dated 
May 2, 2016.   
 
Purpose:  
 
To seek Council approval and endorsement of the 2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy.  
 
Background: 
 
The City of Kelowna, working collaboratively with the RCMP have developed an updated crime 
reduction strategy that will guide our collective efforts through 2016 to 2019.  The strategy 
identifies four goals along with their targets, as well as strategies to achieve goals.  
Performance measures will be used to measure success of several key strategies.   
 
The City and RCMP strive to reduce crime and improve public safety, and are determined to 
better understand the root causes of crime at the local level.  This will allow the RCMP and 
its partners to mobilize around proven strategies that will reduce crime and increase the 
sense of community safety. 
 
The 2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy replaces the RCMP’s 2012-2015 Strategic Plan with 
new focus areas goals.  They are as follows; 
 

 To prevent crime before it occurs through a proactive approach 

 To work with partner agencies for more effective policing 

 Maximize the efficiencies of resources through an intelligence-led model 

 To effectively communicate public safety 
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Included in the strategies are new priority call standards and efforts to reduce the number of 

calls for service by having the right people (organization) dealing with non-criminal matters.  

Nearly 50% of calls are currently not crime related.  If the number of calls for service can be 

reduced, the need for additional resources can be deferred.  New measures will focus on 

service delivery, such as time to respond to priority one calls.   

With improved systems, the RCMP generate better data to better understand where members 

are dispatched and the time it takes to respond to calls, as well as what types of crime are 

happening when and where.  The plan anticipates moving to geographic deployment (to more 

strategically station members out of community police offices) and some flexibility to the 

traditional four on four off shifts that have been the standard for some time, but does not 

match resource peek time needs. 

The plan includes regular reporting to Council and increased public communication on crime 

prevention activities and criminal code violations throughout the City. 

Internal Circulation: 
RCMP Superintendent 
Crime Prevention Supervisor 
Bylaw Services Manager 
Police Services Manager 
Communications Manager 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
Rob Mayne, CPA, CMA, Divisional Director Corporate and Protective Services 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                
 
cc:  
RCMP Superintendent 
Manager Police Services 
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STRATEGY
CRIME REDUCTION

2016 – 2019
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MESSAGE FROM THE MAYOR

On behalf of Kelowna City Council, I’m pleased to support 
the Crime Reduction Strategy. 

This comprehensive plan builds on the 2012-2015  
Crime Reduction Strategy and demonstrates that 
lowering the crime rate and calls for service in Kelowna 
is a priority. We continue to invest in protective services 
— 23 additional RCMP members have joined the ranks 
since 2012 and construction is underway on the new 
$48-million Police Services building project — to ensure 
that the RCMP have the support in place to keep  
Kelowna safe.

Above all, we want to understand the root causes of 
crime at the local level and to mobilize around proven 
strategies that will reduce crime and increase the sense 
of community safety.

Every person in Kelowna plays a role in making our city 
a safe place. This strategy is designed to be sensitive 
to local needs, to respond to Kelowna’s unique 
circumstances, to build on our strengths and successes, 
and to take a collaborative, community-based approach 
to reduce and prevent crime. As Mayor, I look forward to 
seeing its implementation and results.

I believe this strategy will ensure our city is a safe place to 
live, work and play – a community we will be even more  
proud to call home.

Colin Basran

Mayor, City of Kelowna

1

OUR CITY IS A SAFE PLACE TO  
LIVE, WORK AND PLAY.

Downtown Kelowna
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SUPERINTENDENT’S MESSAGE

Four years ago, Kelowna had the highest crime rate amongst 
all Census Metropolitan Areas in Canada.  Through our crime 
reduction efforts, we have made significant progress and 
have dropped to the #4 position by 2014; however, we have 
much more work to do.  

The Kelowna RCMP and the City of Kelowna have worked 
collaboratively to develop this crime reduction strategy that 
will guide our collective efforts.

Public safety is not a job for the police alone; we must 
work together towards our common goal of building safe 
communities. 

This strategy outlines Kelowna RCMP’s goals and targets, as 
well as key performance measures, to significantly reduce 
crime and improve public safety over the period 2016-2019.

The issues surrounding crime, the perception of crime and 
community safety are complex. Less than half of the calls for 
service we receive are related to crime, meaning many of the 
issues that we deal with will not be solved by police action 
alone and require a coordinated and collaborative effort by 
all stakeholders.  

One of the primary focuses of our strategy will be to engage 
those groups and agencies which have the ability to impact 
these difficult issues. The members and staff at the Kelowna 
RCMP are proud to serve the City of Kelowna and work hard 
to make our community safe for both residents and visitors. 
A safe community is a vibrant and prosperous community. 

Another major component of our crime reduction strategy 
focuses on sound decision-making based on the analysis of 
data and crime issues. Our crime analysts prepare data to 
assist in the decision-making of where resources can most 
efficiently and effectively be deployed. Our continued use of 
the CompStat model will ensure that we base our operational 
decisions on real-time analytical data to have the biggest 
impact on crime.

On behalf of the members and staff at Kelowna Detachment, 
I pledge our continued hard work and dedication to making 
Kelowna the best mid-sized community in North America.

Superintendent Nick Romanchuk 

Officer in Charge  
Kelowna RCMP Detachment

32

Downtown patrol
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Crime Reduction

4

The City of Kelowna’s vision is  
to be the best mid-sized city in  
North America — a safe, vibrant  
and sustainable city.

A safe and healthy community is one that works to 
narrow the gaps between advantage and disadvantage, 
to ensure healthier children, resilient families and 
stronger neighbourhoods. 

Creating a safe, healthy, and vibrant community is the 
responsibility of all citizens — everyone has a role to play. 
In addition to the RCMP, it’s essential that community 
participation, coordination between community and 
social agencies, and the continued work of courts and 
corrections all contribute to increased community safety 
and improved perceptions of safety.

The City of Kelowna and the RCMP are committed to 
reducing crime and recognize that in order to succeed 
in making the city safer, they will need to continue work 
with community partners to develop further strategies in 
prevention, education and treatment.  These strategies 
look to identify the root causes of criminal behaviour and 
prevent them from occurring.

The key to success is a matter of properly identifying the 
issues, collecting sufficient information to understand 
the issues, correctly analyzing the issues and then 
directing resources and engaging the appropriate 
agencies to help solve the issues.

As an example, it is well known that prolific offenders 
are a significant drain on resources. Knowing the identity 
of these repeat offenders as well as the location of crime 
hot spots and crime patterns is essential to reducing 
incidents of crime. 

INTRODUCTION

CREATING A SAFE, 
HEALTHY, AND VIBRANT 
COMMUNITY IS THE 
RESPONSIBILITY OF ALL 
CITIZENS.

Community event as part of the City’s  
Strong Neighbourhoods program

Unique Challenges
Kelowna’s mild climate and reputation as a popular 
year-round destination brings its own unique challenges 
when it comes to policing – not many cities of 123,500 
also welcome 1.5 million visitors per year, with most of 
them compressed into the three months between the 
May long weekend and the Labour Day long weekend.

The City’s 2015 Citizen Survey ranked concerns about 
personal safety relatively low, well behind other 
priorities such as transportation, recreation and culture 
services or the local economy. In the same survey, 
however, citizens put protective services as the top 
priority for community investment. 

158



Why a Crime Reduction Strategy?
 
Kelowna has had significant success in driving down its 
crime rate over the past five years — the Okanagan Valley 
was identified as having the highest crime rate per capita 
in Canada, among Census Metropolitan in 2012. By 2014, 
it had droppedto fourth place. Based on the 2012-2015 
Crime Reduction Strategy, the target was to cut the crime 
rate by 10 per cent over those four years. Council is pleased 
that the crime rate was reduced by an additional 5.8 per 
cent beyond the goal, and in a shorter period of time.

In addition, the City has followed through on its 2011 
financial strategy to hire 23 additional RCMP members by 
2015. The final six new members were added this year.

The Kelowna RCMP credits the improvement to identifying 
risk factors, situations and circumstances that negatively 
impact safety and taking action to address these factors  

76

Although the overall crime rate continues to decline 
and people generally feel safe in Kelowna, the survey 
findings tells us that they want to continue investing in 
services such as the RCMP, crime prevention and bylaw 
enforcement to maintain community security.

Kelowna devotes nearly a quarter of its tax dollars  
to Police Services. More than half the new tax dollars 
collected in 2016 will go to support RCMP and 
construction on the new Police Services building.  
The existing detachment is well past its service life  

and too small for current policing needs, and the new 
facility will improve RCMP efficiency and keep pace with 
safety needs in our growing community. 

The $48-million facility will create space for more 
members as needed, upgrade necessary policing 
technologies and improve effectiveness by consolidating 
departments under one roof, as well as meet future 
expansion as the city continues to grow. It is expected  
to open in spring 2017.

 
 
 
and reduce crime. The most successful crime reduction 
initiatives are those that build on community strengths 
and resources, reflect local priorities, and are led by  
the community.

The 2016–2019 strategy builds on the previous plan’s 
success and will further reduce the crime rate through 
collaboration with other agencies and the use of crime 
data to improve resource allocation. 

This strategy also meets Kelowna residents’ desire to 
keep protective services a priority in the community, 
with continued investment to maintain security.

Rendering of the new Police Services  
building, expected to open in 2017
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To prevent crime before it occurs 
through a proactive approach 

The community relies on the RCMP to curb disorder and 
help in times of emergency. The RCMP, on the other 
hand, rely on the community to report crime and provide 
vital information necessary for them to solve crimes and 
address community concerns. 

Policing is all too frequently reactive. In other words, 
police respond to a crime or disturbance after it has 
occurred. 

Proactive policing deters or prevents crime from 
happening. In many ways, our proactive policing efforts 
are not new — the Block Watch program is a neighbour-
helping-neighbour program and has been around for 
many years — but reflect improvements made to our 
past approaches. We want to continually find ways to 
build strong communities and reduce the crime rate, not 
just arrest people. The City of Kelowna has a number of 
community policing programs such as Citizen’s Patrol, 
Crime Stoppers and Block Watch to help deter crime and 
provide a security presence in neighbourhoods. 

These proactive approaches do not replace or reduce 
reactive policing. We are continually finding ways to shift 
and balance the reactive response with more proactive 
approaches where possible.

Strategies
Proactive community policing requires police and 
citizens to join together as partners. The Kelowna RCMP’s 
Downtown Enforcement Unit works in conjunction 
with the Downtown Kelowna Association (DKA), City 
of Kelowna’s Bylaw Services, Kelowna Parking, private 
security partner Paladin and BC Transit to actively patrol 
the downtown core and nearby parks to curb crime 
before it occurs. 

• Continue a visible police presence in the community, 
including crime hot spots, public gathering places and 
major events. This includes high visibility patrols and 
street checks.

• When appropriate, communicate incidents and police 
response to the public to promote public education 
to assist in prevention. When the community feels 
informed about crime in their neighbourhoods and 
police strategies are in place to reduce it, the public is 
more likely to take an active role in preventing crime 
problems – reporting crime and providing information 
to police about who is participating  
in crime.

• Use Auxiliary RCMP members and volunteers through 
crime reduction programs such as Citizen’s Patrol, the 
Auxiliary Constable Program and Block Watch.

• Continue with the partnership between the RCMP’s 
Downtown Enforcement Unit and its existing partners, 
with an eye to exploring new partnerships to build and 
expand opportunities.

Target
• Reduce crime a further 5 per cent by 2019.

• 25 per cent of a general duty Constable’s time on shift 
will be available for proactive policing.

• Maintain over 9300 volunteer hours per year.

GOAL #1

PROACTIVE POLICING 
DETERS OR PREVENTS 
CRIME FROM HAPPENING.

RCMP Volunteer helps prevent theft from vehicles

1
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To work with partner agencies  
for more effective policing 

It’s important to understand why people turn to crime  
if we are to try and prevent it.

The diverse mix of persons who commit crime means 
there are diverse stakeholders with different values, 
interests and perspectives who must work together  
with the RCMP to prevent and solve crimes. This requires 
a high level of coordination between government 
and non-government community resources, program 
providers and service groups.

For example, the City of Kelowna and Kelowna RCMP 
participate in a number of community partnerships  
and programs, including Partners for a Healthy 
Downtown, School District Liaison Program, Central 
Okanagan Restorative Justice Program, and Strong 
Neighbourhood Strategies. 

The Assertive Community Treatment Team (ACT) provides 
an intensive, team-oriented range of support for individuals 
with serious mental health issues and substance use 
challenges. The ACT team includes professionals from 
various health backgrounds, working together to provide 
treatment, rehabilitation and support. Different from 
traditional programs, as the name states, the ACT team 
reaches out directly to clients 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week, making client contact in the community as frequently 
as two to three times per day, based on individual needs.

Further to the ACT team, Interior Health provides two 
resources as part of the Partnership with Mental Health and 
Substance Use (MHSU) for on-call mental health responses.

New to Kelowna RCMP is the Domestic Violence Unit, 
one of three RCMP detachments in BC that initiated 
the program in September 2014. Resources from the 
RCMP, Ministry of Children and Family Development and 
Community and Police-Based Victim Services monitor 
and work with victims and offenders.

Strategies
• Continue to work with government, non-government 

and social service agencies to determine which are 
most effective in dealing with offenders, rather 
than only relying on the traditional criminal justice 
system approach. These include the Partners for a 
Healthy Downtown, School District Liaison Program, 
Central Okanagan Restorative Justice Program, 
Strong Neighbourhood Strategies and the Assertive 
Community Treatment Team (ACT).

• Continue to support and report outcomes from the 
RCMP’s Domestic Violence Unit. 

• The City’s Bylaw Services, working in conjunction 
with the RCMP, continue to build effective bylaws to 
assist in crime reduction. As an example, a new Good 
Neighbour Bylaw will allow the City to take remediation 
action on properties that use extraordinary resources 
and are affecting the neighbourhoods’ quality of life.  
Other bylaws being reviewed and enhanced include the 
Panhandling Bylaw, Traffic Bylaw, and the Parks Bylaw.

• RCMP continue to meet regularly with senior Crown members 
to address emerging matters relating to the criminal justice 
system, through the Crown Counsel Partnership. 

• Enter into and renew partnerships that can affect or 
prevent crime.

Target
• Steady increase in the number of adult and youth 

referrals to the Restorative Justice program.

• Review and update nuisance bylaws with City of 
Kelowna Bylaw Department over 2016 and 2017.

GOAL #2

DIVERSE STAKEHOLDERS 
WITH DIFFERENT 
VALUES, INTERESTS AND 
PERSPECTIVES MUST WORK 
TOGETHER TO PREVENT 
AND SOLVE CRIME.

RCMP officers, Auxiliary and Volunteers  
work closely in the community

2
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To maximize the effectiveness  
of resources using an intelligence-
led model 

Part of proactive policing is staying one step ahead 
of those who are committing crime — using data and 
research to find out who is connected to whom, how  
and why people are connected, when and where they  
are connected, and under what circumstances they  
are connected.

Because crime tends to be concentrated in certain areas, 
referred to as “crime hot spots”, using data and research 
to know where these hot spots are in a neighbourhood, 
what types of crimes are occurring, and who is active 
in that area is also invaluable. Police can then develop 
targeted strategies to respond effectively. 

Kelowna RCMP employs crime analysts to study and 
analyze these crime patterns and trends across the city.  
Just as important as determining who is committing 
crime and where, the information provided by crime 
analysts is used to direct available police and other 
resources to areas where the most impact will be  
made to prevent and deter crime.

A clear indicator of accomplishment is how much 
the RCMP is successfully integrating and using the 
intelligence generated by the crime analysts into 
operations. Essentially, we want the information 
produced by analysts to allow police to be more 
proactive, to be aware of emerging crime trends  
before they become established. This enables RCMP  
to develop strategies to deter crime, to be in a position 
to interrupt offenders before they become prolific and 
to identify upcoming policing challenges before they 
become a strain on police and community resources.

Strategies
• To maintain RCMP resource levels, through the use of 

the 7/10/25/2 target, that keep pace with the growth 
of the community and the level of necessary policing  
to address Kelowna’s unique characteristics.

• Maximize resources through efficient geographic 
staff deployment and effective staff scheduling. 
Analyze dispatch data and officers’ consumed time to 
determine how to best divide the city geographically 
and then deploy resources accordingly. Efficient police 
resource allocation will allow appropriate response 
times and service standards.

• Leverage the use of crime analysts to study and 
examine the crime patterns and trends in the city,  
as the information is valuable in determining where  
to best deploy resources to prevent and deter crime.

• Target crime patterns through analysis and/or 
investigation so that they can be disrupted as early  
as possible. 

• Target repeat offenders, including rigorous monitoring 
of their court/bail conditions.

• Target hot spots.

• Educate the public and media on crime patterns and 
prevention opportunities.

Target
• Standard of 7/10/25/2 - meaning that Police will 

respond within 7 minutes to Priority 1 calls and within 
10 minutes to Priority 2 calls for service, that 25 per 
cent of a general duty Constable’s time on shift will be 
available for proactive policing, and two units will be 
available at all times for community and officer safety.

GOAL #3

USING DATA AND 
RESEARCH TO KNOW 
WHERE HOT SPOTS ARE 
LOCATED, WHAT TYPES OF 
CRIMES ARE OCCURRING 
AND WHO IS ACTIVE IN 
THE AREA IS INVALUABLE.

Officers review hot spot map

3
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To effectively communicate  
public safety

As a testament to the role the RCMP plays in protecting 
and maintaining the quality of life in Kelowna, 94 per 
cent of respondents to the City’s 2015 Citizens Survey 
said they felt the community is safe. 

In some cases, despite efforts of the police and 
community crime strategies, a community’s perception 
may not always mirror the realities of crime and safety. It 
is important to understand the community perspective in 
this regard, and work toward making improvements. 

Communications is key on a number of fronts — it’s 
important to educate the public about incidents of  
crime and how they can avoid being victims of crime, 
along with educating potential offenders about the 
effects and consequences of crime. 

Strategies
• Establish regular reporting to Kelowna City Council and 

include a review of performance measures, strategy 
progress and discussion on emerging issues. 

• Enhance communication opportunities between the 
RCMP and City of Kelowna Bylaw Services.

• Look for RCMP opportunities to use social media to 
inform the public of matters relating to policing and 
crime prevention.

• Establish the RCMP online tool in Kelowna for the public 
to report non-emergent crime through the Internet for 
action by the RCMP.

• Where appropriate, communicate incidents and police 
response to the public to promote public education to 
assist in crime prevention.

• Continue to interact positively with the marginalized 
population so that they feel comfortable in  
reporting crime.

• Continue to explore new and effective ways of 
communicating with the public and keep them 
informed with respect to public safety issues, crime 
trends and crime rates, the geographic distribution  
of crime and crime prevention tips.

• Include questions in the City of Kelowna Citizen Survey 
to consistently measure perception of crime and safety 
in the community.

Target
• Report quarterly to public and council.

• Perception of community safety in Kelowna remains or 
improves from level of 94 per cent measured in 2015.

GOAL #4

94 PER CENT OF 
RESPONDENTS TO THE 
CITY’S 2015 CITIZEN 
SURVEY SAID THEY FELT 
THE COMMUNITY IS SAFE.

RCMP interactions shape the public  
perception of community safety

4
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Goal 1 Measures

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

16 17

Performance measures and the supporting analysis will not only inform the public and Council on progress  
towards a reduction in crime, but will also be an opportunity to identify continuous improvement opportunities. 
Measures will form part of the communication goals of the strategy.  

Offense Type

Offence Definitions: 
 
 
• Person Offences – Includes as an example assault,  
   or harassment or uttering threats. 
 
 
• Property Offences – Includes as an example business  
   break and enter, theft of auto or theft from an auto. 
 
 
• Other Criminal Code Offences – Includes as an  
   example disturbances, breaching conditions of  
   probation and obstructing peace/police officers.

*Population is based on  
City of Kelowna projections 
provided on  an annual basis.

Kelowna Offences

Annual Kelowna Offences  
(per 1,000 people)

Q3
OCT-DEC 

2014

Q4
JAN-MAR 

2015

Q1
APR-JUNE

2015

Q2
JULY-SEPT

2015

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

Persons Offences

Property Offences

Other Criminal
Code Offences

Total Criminal Code

2012 2013 2014 2015

Persons Offences

Property Offences

Other Criminal
Code Offences

Total Criminal Code

0

20

40

60

80

100

120
 

Annual Crime Rate

Hours of Community Policing

2012  2013  2014  2015

Persons Offences

Property Offences

Other Criminal
Code Offences

Total Criminal Code

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2012             2013             2014            2015

Q4 JAN–MAR

Q4 JAN–MAR

Q4 JAN–MAR

Q4 JAN–MAR

TOTAL

13,000

10,000

7000

5000

3000

2500

2000

1000

0

2012             2013             2014            2015

Q4 JAN–MAR

Q4 JAN–MAR

Q4 JAN–MAR

Q4 JAN–MAR

TOTAL

13,000

10,000

7000

5000

3000

2500

2000

1000

0

164



Goal 3 Measures

Goal 2 Measures The workload of General Duty investigators is  
broken down into three categories — investigational,  
administrative and proactive time. Computer software 
is used to measure the amount of time investigators 
contribute to each category. Proactive time is defined 
as the time that investigators have to conduct patrols 
and complete self-generated enforcement or crime 
prevention activities that align with the crime  
reduction strategies.   
Through increasing efficiencies and effectiveness,  
the goal is to have investigators spending 25 per cent  
of their time doing proactive policing and at least two 
members available for proactive policing at all times. 
 
This is a new system and data collection.  
Quarterly reporting will start in 2016. 

Patrol Availability

18 19

•  Priority 1 Calls – The response time goal for Priority 
1 calls is seven minutes. Officers are dispatched 
immediately for Priority 1 calls and will use emergency 
lights and siren (Code 3) to travel to the scene as 
needed. Priority 1 calls are for crimes in progress and 
include offences like robbery, assault, person with a 
weapon, or break and enter of a home or business.

•  Priority 2 Calls – The response time goal for Priority 2 
calls is 10 minutes. While Priority 2 calls also typically 
result in a rapid response from police, the immediate 
threat to an individual’s safety or that of a premise is 
limited. Calls that fall under this priority level include 
domestic arguments where there is no physical 
altercation occurring or when a prowler is reported 
around a residence.

The public perception of safety will be tracked through 
the City of Kelowna’s biannual (every second year) 
Citizen Survey. In the 2015, 94 per cent of survey 
respondents said they felt the community is safe. The 
next survey will be in the spring of 2017.

At an officer’s discretion, offenders who meet 
established criteria may be refered to the Restorative 
Justice program rather than entering the Criminal Justice 
system.

Restorative Justice is a proven alternative to the Criminal 
Justice system. 85 per cent of those referred do not re-
offend. Restorative Justice also reduces administrative 
time and court time for RCMP officers.

Starting in 2016 the number of offences will be tracked 
for panhandling activity under the Panhandling Bylaw, 
transient behaviour under the Parks and Public Spaces 
Bylaw, obstruction of roads and sidewalks under the Traffic 
Bylaw and infractions under the Good Neighbour Bylaw.

*Average Report Time is a new measure and data has only  
 been collected since November 1, 2015. Going forward data  
 will be collected and reported quarterly.

Average Report Time in Minutes for November 2015 
Response Time Perception of Safety

Referrals to Restorative Justice

Bylaw Offenses

 
PRIORITY 

 
 

1 
 
 
2
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Youth

 
Dispatched File Count 

 
 

156 
 
 

1,141
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8.5 
 
 

9.9

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Goal 4 Measures
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City Hall
1435 Water Street
Kelowna, BC  V1Y 1J4
Tel 250-469-8500 
kelowna.ca
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CRIME REDUCTION STRATEGY

Superintendent Nick Romanchuk
Kelowna RCMP

1

May 2nd, 2016
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #1 
TAKING A PROACTIVE APPROACH TO CRIME

GOAL #2
TO WORK WITH PARTNER AGENCIES FOR MORE EFFECTIVE POLICING

GOAL #3 
TO MAXIMIZE THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RESOURCES USING AN 

INTELLIGENCE-LED MODEL

GOAL #4 
LEVERAGING EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATIONS

2

Crime Reduction Strategy 
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #1 
TAKING A PROACTIVE APPROACH TO CRIME

 RCMP resource levels to match the growth of the 
community: 
 Resource Utilization Methodology

 Community Policing programs to match the needs of the 
City, including:
 Citizen’s Patrol
 Crime Stoppers
 Block Watch
 Auxiliary Constable Program 

3
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #1 
TAKING A PROACTIVE APPROACH TO CRIME

 Downtown Enforcement Unit
 Continue the effort of the Unit in conjunction with the 

DKA, Bylaw, Kelowna Parking, BC Transit , etc.

 City Watch Program
 City staff trained to observe and report crimes to the 

police

 Target
 Reduce crime by 5% by 2019
 Maintain over 9300 volunteer hours per year

4
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #2
TO WORK WITH PARTNER AGENCIES FOR MORE 

EFFECTIVE POLICING

 A.C.T.
 Nuisance Property Program
 Partners for a Healthy Downtown
 RCMP/KGH/IHA Committee
 Partnership with MHSU for on-call mental health responses
 Strong Neighbourhood Strategies (COK Active Living and 

Culture Department)
 Municipal bylaws to assist in crime reduction

5
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #2
TO WORK WITH PARTNER AGENCIES FOR MORE 

EFFECTIVE POLICING

 School District Liaison Program
 Central Okanagan Restorative Justice Program
 Crown Counsel Partnership
 Partnered Harm Reduction Strategies
 Domestic Violence Unit

 RCMP, MCFD, Community and Police-Based Victim 
Services

 Target
 Reduce mental health calls
 Review and update nuisance bylaws with City of 

Kelowna Bylaw Department over 2016 and 2017

6
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #3
TO MAXIMIZE THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RESOURCES 

USING AN INTELLIGENCE-LED MODEL

Strategic Goals:

 Zone Policing
 Resources deployed based on geographic division of 

the City.

 CompStat
 Crime analysis to better understand prolific offenders, 

crime hot spots, and crime causation.

7
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #3
TO MAXIMIZE THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RESOURCES 

USING AN INTELLIGENCE-LED MODEL

 Target 
 7/10/25/2

 7 minute response time to Priority 1 Calls for 
Service

 10 minute response time to Priority 2 Calls for 
Service

 25% proactive time
 2 Units available at all times for Community and 

Officer safety

8
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #4
LEVERAGING EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATIONS

 Quarterly Reporting in March and September in public, and 
June and December in camera.
 Performance Measures
 Crime Reduction Strategy Progress
 Standardized Template

 Online Crime Reporting
 Social Media
 RCMP/Bylaw Services Communication 
 Crime statistics to influence messaging – breaking down the 

perception of crime. 

9

175



2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy

GOAL #4
LEVERAGING EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATIONS

 Target
 Report quarterly to the public and council
 Perception of community safety in Kelowna remains or 

improves from level of 94% measured in 2015

10
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

Recent Successes:

Implementation of CompStat:

 Bi-weekly, intelligence-led, issue-focused meetings
 Comparative statistics
 Immediate implementation of strategies to address 

increasing levels of certain crimes
 Operational units to provide updates

Crime Reduction Strategy
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

CompStat Example

Crime Reduction Strategy
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

Crime Reduction Strategy
2012-2015 Strategy Review

13
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

Crime Reduction Strategy

Uniqueness of Kelowna’s Population:

 Kelowna’s crime rate remains competitive with like 
jurisdictions despite a substantial increase in 
population during the summer months.

 According to Tourism Kelowna, the City of Kelowna 
receives approximately 1.5 million visitors throughout 
the year, with the majority between May and 
September. 

 The tourism population is not captured in census data 
yet places a significant strain on police resources. 

14
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

Crime Reduction Strategy

15

181



Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

2015 - Year in Review

 Based on a Statistics Canada estimate, the greater 
Kelowna area grew in population by 3% from June 
2014 to June 2015.

 The Kelowna metropolitan area includes Peachland, 
West Kelowna, and Lake Country.

Crime Reduction Strategy

16
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

2015 - Year in Review

 From the estimate of a 3% increase in population, the 
early projection for the 2015 population for the city 
of Kelowna is 124,676*

 Using the projected population, an early estimate for 
the crime rate for 2015:

97.20 CC violations per 1,000*

Crime Reduction Strategy
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

Crime Rate (per 1,000):

2012: 102.44

2013: 87.22 
(14.85% reduction from 2012)

2014: 86.23 
(1.14% reduction from 2013)

2015: 97.20* 
(11.29% gain from 2014)

Crime Reduction Strategy
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* Based on population estimate and subject to revision
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

2015 - Year in Review

Possible drivers for the increase:

 Unemployment in Kelowna may have played a factor 
in the crime rate increase in 2015. 

 3% unemployment rate in January of 2015.
 8.1% unemployment rate in February of 2016.

Crime Reduction Strategy
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

2015 - Year in Review

Possible drivers for the increase:

 Industry related to oil and natural gas is suffering, 
and potentially driving those unemployed in Alberta 
and Saskatchewan into British Columbia. 

 Intangible population growth of impermanent 
residents.

Crime Reduction Strategy
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Crime Reduction Strategy - Presentation to Kelowna City Council

2015 - Year in Review

Possible drivers for the increase:

 1892 thefts from motor vehicles 

 43.55% increase from 2014.
 24.23% of all property crime in 2015.
 Roughly 40% of instances involved an unlocked vehicle.
 Multiple efforts in public outreach, including ‘Don’t Be A 

Target’ media campaign.
 16 of 30 RCMP detachments in the Southeast District of BC 

reported an increase in the third quarter of 2015; the most 
significant impact of any one property crime type in the 
district.

Crime Reduction Strategy
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Jurisdictional Comparison – Criminal Code Offences
Crime Reduction Strategy
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2016-2019 Crime Reduction Strategy 23

QUESTIONS?
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Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 2nd, 2016 
 

File: 
 

0245-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

J. Shaw Manager, Infrastructure Planning Manager 
 

Subject: 
 

Bylaw No. 11207 Amendment No.2 to Development Cost Charge Bylaw No.10515 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the Infrastructure Planning Manager 
dated May 2, 2016, with respect to Bylaw No. 11207, Amendment No.2 to Development Cost 
Charge Bylaw No.10515; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 11207, Amendment No.2 to Development Cost Charge Bylaw No.10515 be 

forwarded for further reading consideration; 

AND FURTHER THAT Council directs Staff to submit DCC Bylaw and supporting documentation 

to Inspector of Municipalities for their review and approval prior to fourth reading and 

adoption of Bylaw No. 11207, Amendment No. 2 to Development Cost Charge Bylaw No. 

10515. 

Purpose:  
 
To inform Council about the outcome of the public open house. 
 
Background: 
 
The Development Cost Charge (DCC) Bylaw sets out the charges imposed on developers to 
offset some of the infrastructure expenditures incurred to service the needs of new 
development.  DCCs are intended to facilitate development by providing a method to finance 
capital projects related to public roads, water, sanitary sewer, drainage and parkland.  The 
current DCC Bylaw 10515 was adopted by Council June 13, 2011 in conjunction with the OCP 
review.  
 
It has been five years since the last DCC update and this bylaw amendment is required to 
update construction and land costs to current market conditions so there is adequate funding 
to support infrastructure improvements that are needed to service growth in our community. 
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Council received information regarding the proposed DCC Bylaw at a March 7th, 2016 Council 
meeting.  The projected DCC program costs and rate changes presented at that meeting are 
appended to this report.  Council directed staff at the March 7th Council meeting to facilitate 
a public open house to get feedback on the proposed rate increases. 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
 
Public Open House 
A public open house for the proposed DCC Bylaw amendment was facilitated at the Kelowna 
Public Library on Wednesday March 30th, 2016.  Approximately 40 people attended and 
received the information provided.  Staff were available at the Open House to answer 
questions.   An exit survey was available and 5 were completed by attendees (Appendix B). 
 
Three of the exit surveys expressed concern that not enough warning had been given 
regarding the proposed rate increase and recommended a grace period or phase approached 
to implementing the proposed changes.  
 
Discussion 
In response to these comments and other comments from the development industry collected 
over the last 4 months, Staff provide the following justification for proceeding with 
amendment of the Bylaw as planned. 

 The Urban Development Institute (UDI) was notified of the proposed changes in 
December 2015.  The earliest that Council can adopt the Bylaw is likely mid-June 
because it must be approved by the Ministry prior to final adoption by Council.  The 
Ministry is indicating a 6-week review process.  This represents a 6-month notification 
period. 

 Subdivision and building permit applications that are complete prior to the 
date of bylaw adoptions are considered “in-stream” and are not subject to the 
new DCC rates for a period of one year from bylaw adoption.  In other words, 
given the current scenario where the proposed DCC’s have increased from the 
existing charges, an in-stream application will be exempt from the increased 
DCC’s for one year from the date of adoption of the new bylaw provided the 
applications are complete and application fees have been paid.  

 To improve the process for providing more certainty of the timing of future DCC 
updates, Staff are recommending that the DCC Bylaw be amended annually to reflect 
current land and construction costs.  This frequency is recommended in the 
Development Cost Charge Best Practice Guide.  Utilization of an indexing model for 
unit costs will be considered as part of several items to be reviewed as part of an 
upcoming shared DCC review involving City Staff and UDI.  

 The last DCC update 5 years ago saw the developer funded portion of the program 
decrease by $209 million (-30.9%) in part to help stimulate a stagnate housing 
market.  These lower rates have continued for the last 5 years but given the 
increase in both construction and land costs a DCC rate increase is required 
now to fund the infrastructure required to support growth in the future.  

 The increased rates are still comparable to like size communities in BC as 
shown in the figure below. 
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Figure 1.  Single Family Residential Average DCC Rate based on updated DCC rates.  Rates for the City 
of Vernon include DCC charges for Parks and Water from the Regional District of the North Okanagan. 

 

 
Internal Circulation: 
Divisional Director, Infrastructure 
Divisional Director, Community Planning & Real Estate  
Divisional Director, Corporate & Protective Services 
Legislative Coordinator 
Director, Financial Services 
Community Engagement Consultant 
Financial Analyst, Infrastructure Planning 
 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
The Development Cost Charge (DCC) Bylaw sets out the charges imposed for public roads, 
water, sanitary sewer, drainage and public park infrastructure when subdividing or 
constructing, altering or extending a building, pursuant the Local Government Act.   
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Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
The Local Government Act requires the Inspector of Municipalities to approve local 
government DCC bylaws. The following process, which is recommend by DCC Best Practices 
Guide, is being followed by staff for amending the DCC Bylaw.  

• Staff calculate the DCC rates and amend DCC Bylaw for Council review, 

• First reading of proposed DCC Bylaw by Council (March 7th, 2016), 

• Public Information Meeting Kelowna Public Library (March 30th, 2016), 

• Second and Third Reading of DCC Bylaw by Council (May 2, 2016), 

• Submission of DCC Bylaw and Supporting Documentation to Ministry of Community 
Services (May), 

• Statutory approval from Inspector of Municipalities (TBD), 

• Fourth Reading and adoption of DCC Bylaw by Council (June), 

• Bylaw implementation 

 
 
Existing Policy:  
Development Cost Charge Bylaw 10515   

 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
The City’s 10-Year Capital Plan will be updated to reflect the revised project costs once the 
DCC Bylaw has been adopted by Council. 
 
DCCs contribute to the initial capital cost of growth-related infrastructure, along with 
taxpayer contributions that account for the benefit of the new infrastructure to the existing 
community.  The subsequent operation, maintenance, capital renewal and the eventual 
replacement of all infrastructures accrues to general taxation or utility rates.   
 
Personnel Implications: 
There are no personnel implications related to this proposed DCC Update.   
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
Submitted by:  J. Shaw, Manager, Infrastructure Planning 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:  A. Newcombe, Divisional Director, Infrastructure 
 
cc:  
Divisional Director, Community Planning & Real Estate  
Divisional Director, Corporate & Protective Services 
Legislative Coordinator 
Director, Financial Services 
Community Engagement Consultant 
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Financial Analyst, Infrastructure Planning 
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Appendix – A  

Summary of DCC Program Costs and DCC Rates 

 

 

 

Table 1 – Proposed compared to current DCC program costs and funding by service.  

Gov't Funded

Grant
Developer 

Construct
DCC's Taxation

Utility User 

Rates

2016 

Totals

2011 

Totals

% Change 

from 2016 - 

2011

Arterial Roads 37.9 63.3 209.1 151.1 461.4 400.3 15.3

Water Distribution 6.0 24.7 29.4 60.0 59.1 1.6

Wastewater Trunks 6.9 25.8 8.4 41.1 37.9 8.2

Wastewater Treatment 65.4 20.3 85.7 86.1 (0.5)

Parkland Acquisition 5.4 116.5 14.5 136.4 125.5 8.7

2016 Totals 43.3 76.0 441.5 165.6 58.1 784.7 709.0 10.7

2011 Totals 32.0 61.2 406.4 149.8 59.6 709.0

% Change from 2016 - 

2011
35.4 24.2 8.7 10.5 (2.6) 10.7

2030 Major Services - Funding Sources ($ Millions) - 2016 Update

2030 OCP

Major Service

City FundedDeveloper Funded
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Figure 2.  Proposed DCC rate per single family residential by sector and service. 

S.E. South NE of North of North  of Inner

Kelowna Mission Inner City Hwy 33 Inner City City

Arterial Roads A B C D E I

2011 Update 7,878 21,540 14,292 11,072 10,666 7,530

 2016 Update 9,243 26,118 15,513 13,321 11,000 8,338

$ Difference 1,365 4,578 1,220 2,249 333 807

% Change 17.3 21.3 8.5 20.3 3.1 10.7

Parkland Acquisition A

2011 Update 5,300

 2016 Update 5,795

$ Difference 495

% Change 9.3

Wastewater Treatment A

2011 Update 3,723

 2016 Update 3,645

$ Difference (78)

% Change (2.1)

Wastewater Trunks A B

2011 Update 1,294 1,903

 2016 Update 1,541 1,379

$ Difference 247 (524)

% Change 19.1 (27.5)

Water Distribution A B D

2011 Update 998 679 3,552

 2016 Update 1,282 833 3,584

$ Difference 284 154 32

% Change 28.5 22.7 0.9

Total All Services S.E. Kelowna South Mission N.E. of Inner City N. Highway 33 North of Inner City City Centre

2011 Update 13,178 33,145 24,609 21,389 20,983 18,845

 2016 Update 15,038 37,769 26,494 24,302 21,981 20,601

$ Difference 1,860 4,625 1,885 2,913 997 1,756

% change 14.1 14.0 7.7 13.6 4.8 9.3

PROPOSED 2016 VERSUS 2011 DCC RATES ($'s per Residential 1 Unit)
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Figure 3.  Combined DCC cost for all City services (i.e. Arterial Roads, Parkland Acquisition, Water Distribution, 
Wastewater Distribution and Treatment by sector.  DCC base on single family residential. 

Total All Services S.E. Kelowna South Mission N.E. of Inner City N. Highway 33 North of Inner City City Centre

2011 Update 13,178 33,145 24,609 21,389 20,983 18,845

 2016 Update 15,038 37,769 26,494 24,302 21,981 20,601

$ Difference 1,860 4,625 1,885 2,913 997 1,756

% change 14.1 14.0 7.7 13.6 4.8 9.3
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Appendix – B 

DCC Open House Feedback 

 

198



199



200



201



202



 

203



D C C  C O S T  U P D AT E  &  B Y L A W  A M E N D M E N T

May 2, 2016
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P U B L I C  O P E N  H O U S E

Public Library – March 30th, 2016
Approximately 40 attended, 5 completed exit 
surveys,
What we heard from exit surveys?

Not enough warning provide to development 
community about proposed rate increase.
Recommend phased approach to implementation.
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R AT I O N A L E  F O R  M O V I N G  F O RWA R D

City will have provided 6-months notification by the time of bylaw adoption.

One year “in-stream” protection for completed applications.

Recommend the DCC Bylaw be amended annually to reflect current land and 
construction costs. 

Consider using an indexing model for construction and land costs.

Developer funded portion of the program decreased by $209 million (-30.9%) as part 
of last update in part to help stimulate a stagnate housing market.  

These lower rates have continued for the last 5 years but given the recent increase 
in both construction and land costs a DCC rate increase is required now to fund the 
infrastructure required to support growth in the future. 

The increased DCC rates are still comparable to like size communities in BC.
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Rates for the City of Vernon include DCC charges for Parks and Water from the Regional District of the North Okanagan
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N E X T  S T E P S

1) Notified UDI of proposed DCC Rates – Dec 22nd

2) Stakeholder input (UDI/CHBA) – Jan 22nd

3) Report to Council – First Reading - Mar 7th

4) Public Open House –Public Library - Mar 30th

5) Report to Council – 2nd and 3rd Reading - May 2
6) Ministry Approval (~4-6 weeks) – June
7) Report to Council - Bylaw Adoption - June
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Q U E S T I O N S ?
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11207 
 

Amendment No. 2 to Development Cost Charge Bylaw No. 10515 
 

 

The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts that the City of Kelowna 

Development Cost Charg Bylaw No. 10515 be amended as follows: 
 

1. THAT Schedule A be deleted in its entirety and replaced with a new Schedule A as attached to and 
forming part of this bylaw. 

 
2. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "Bylaw No. 11207, being Amendment No. 2 to 

Development Cost Charge Bylaw No. 10515." 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the date of 

adoption. 

 

 

Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 7th day of March, 2016. 

 

Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 

 

Approved by the Inspector of Municipalities this  

 

Adopted by the Municipal Council this 

 

 

 

 
 

Mayor 
 

 

 

 
 

City Clerk 
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Schedule A 
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Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 2, 2016 
 

File: 
 

0710-40 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Ross Soward, Planner Specialist  

Subject: 
 

2016 Rental Housing Grant Bylaws 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council, receives, for information, the Report from the Planner Specialist dated May 2, 
2016 recommending that Council adopt the following Housing Agreement bylaws for the six 
approved rental housing grants.  
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 11235 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and Society of Hope, which requires the owners to designate 78 dwelling units in a purpose-
built rental housing for Lot 1, District Lot 128, ODYD, Plan EPP37196 located at 2065 
Benvoulin Crt, Kelowna, BC be forwarded for reading consideration. 

AND THAT Bylaw No. 11237 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and Okanagan Metis & Aboriginal Housing Society, which requires the owners to designate 78 
dwelling units in a purpose-built rental housing for Parcel B (Plan B1566) of Lot 4, Sections 26 
and 27, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 426, Except Plans 8449, 21711, 24898, KAP58053 and 
KAP58054 located at 1170 Highway 33, Kelowna, BC be forwarded for reading consideration. 

AND THAT Bylaw No. 11236 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and Ki-Low-Na Friendship Society, which requires the owners to designate 86 dwelling units in 
a purpose-built rental housing for Lot 2, District Lot 139, ODYD, Plan KAP92715 Except Plan 
EPP40150 located at 1745 Chapman Place, Kelowna, BC be forwarded for reading 
consideration. 

AND THAT Bylaw No. 11234 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and Unico One Developments Ltd, which requires the owners to designate 23 dwelling units in 
a purpose-built rental housing for Lot 1, Section 22, Township 26, ODYD, Plan EPP51775 
located at 125 Dundas, Kelowna, BC be forwarded for reading consideration. 

AND THAT Bylaw No. 11238 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and U Three – Mission Group Rentals Ltd, which requires the owners to designate 55 dwelling 
units in a purpose-built rental housing for Lot 1, Section 3 and 10, Township 23, ODYD, Plan 
EPP53793 located at 805 Academy Way, Kelowna, BC be forwarded for reading consideration. 
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AND THAT Bylaw No. 11239 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and Davara Holdings Ltd, which requires the owners to designate 9 dwelling units in a 
purpose-built rental housing for Lot 1, Section 27, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18004 located at 
305 Homer Road, Kelowna, BC be forwarded for reading consideration. 

AND FURTHER THAT Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the Housing Agreements 
on behalf of the City of Kelowna after adoption. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To consider Housing Agreements for the purpose-built rental housing projects that were 
approved for rental housing grants, in accordance with Council Policy No. 335. 
 
Background: 
On November 16, 2015 Council approved funding for six rental housing grants, supporting 329 

rental housing units. Since receiving Council approval, staff has confirmed that all six projects 

intend to move forward to the building permit stage in 2016. In accordance with the City’s 

Rental Housing Grants Policy all projects are required to enter into purpose-built rental 

housing agreements with the City to ensure the development of purpose-built rental housing 

on their respective sites. The housing agreements become bylaw upon approval from Council, 

ensuring all six projects will operate purpose-built rental housing for a minimum of ten years. 

After ten years, if a landowner intends to lift an agreement, Council approval is required 

along with repayment of any grant funding received from the City. 

 

Three of the rental housing grant recipients are developing their projects in partnership with 

BC Housing. BC Housing is using a new strategy to reduce risk associated with non-profit 

housing projects. Under this approach a portion of the units are stratified and purchased by 

BC Housing and then operated by the local non-profit housing provider. To accommodate this 

approach, a modified housing agreement template was developed for projects when non-

profit organizations are entering into agreements with BC Housing.    

 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Local Government Act, Section 483.  
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
Housing Opportunities Reserve Fund By-law No. 8593 
 
Existing Policy: 
2030 Official Community Plan 
 
Objective 10.3 Support the creation of affordable and safe rental, non-market and /or special 
needs housing 

 
Policies 10.3.1, 10.3.2, 10.3.3 & 10.3.4 
 
Council Policy no. 355 – Rental Housing Grants  
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Submitted by:  
Ross Soward, Planner Specialist   
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                James Moore, Acting Department Manager, Policy & 
Planning 
 
 
cc:  
Divisional Director, Community Planning and Real Estate 
Manager, Long Range Policy and Planning   
Manager, Urban Planning  
Department Manager, Community Planning 
Director, Financial Services  
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11234 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw – Unico One 
Developments Ltd., Inc. No. BC0990537 – 125 Dundas Road 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 483 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by 

bylaw, enter into a housing agreement. 
 
Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts 

as follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with Unico One Developments Ltd., Inc. No. BC0990537 for the lands known 
as Lot 1, Section 22, Township 26, ODYD, Plan EPP51775 located on 125 Dundas Road, 
Kelowna, B.C., a true copy of which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw as 
Appendix “A”. 

 
2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as 

well as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the 

attached agreement. 
 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this  

 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11235 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw – National Society of 
Hope, Inc. No. S0025475 – 2065 Benvoulin Court 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 483 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by 

bylaw, enter into a housing agreement. 
 
Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts 

as follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with National Society of Hope, Inc. No. S0025475 for the lands known as Lot 
1, District Lot 128, ODYD, Plan EPP37196 located on 2065 Benvoulin Court, Kelowna, 
B.C., a true copy of which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw as Appendix “A”. 

 
2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as 

well as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the 
attached agreement. 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 

 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this  
 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

223



 

 

 

Appendix “A” 

224



  

225



  

226



  

227



  

228



  

229



  

230



 

231



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11236 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw – Ki-Low-Na 
Friendship Society – 1745 Chapman Place 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 483 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by 

bylaw, enter into a housing agreement. 
 
Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts 

as follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with Ki-Low-Na Friendship Society for the lands known as Lot 2, District Lot 
139, ODYD, Plan KAP92715 Except Plan EPP40150 located on 1745 Chapman Place, 
Kelowna, B.C., a true copy of which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw as 
Appendix “A”. 

 
2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as 

well as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the 

attached agreement. 
 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 

 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11237 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw – Okanagan Metis & 
Aboriginal Housing Society – 1170 Hwy 33 W 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 483 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by 

bylaw, enter into a housing agreement. 
 
Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts 

as follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with Okanagan Metis & Aboriginal Housing Society for the lands known as 
Parcel B (Plan B1566) of Lot 4, Sections 26 and 27, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 426, 
Except Plans 8449, 21711, 24898, KAP58053 and KAP58054 located on 1170 Hwy 33 W, 
Kelowna, B.C., a true copy of which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw as 
Appendix “A”. 

 

2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as 
well as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the 
attached agreement. 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 

 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 

 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this  
 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11238 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw – U Three – Mission 
Group Rentals Ltd., Inc. No. BC1065198 – 805 Academy Way 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 483 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by 

bylaw, enter into a housing agreement. 
 
Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts 

as follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with U Three – Mission Group Rentals Ltd., Inc. No. BC1065198 for the lands 
known as Lot 1, Section 3 and 10, Township 23, ODYD, Plan EPP53793 located on 805 
Academy Way, Kelowna, B.C., a true copy of which is attached to and forms part of 
this bylaw as Appendix “A”. 

 
2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as 

well as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the 

attached agreement. 
 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this  

 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11239 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw – Davara Holdings 
Ltd., Inc. No. BC0797640 – 305 Homer Road 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 483 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by 

bylaw, enter into a housing agreement. 
 
Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts 

as follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with Davara Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. BC0797640 for the lands known as Lot 1, 
Section 27, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 18004 located on 305 Homer Road, Kelowna, 
B.C., a true copy of which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw as Appendix “A”. 

 
2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as 

well as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the 
attached agreement. 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 

 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk 
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Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 2, 2016 
 

File: 
 

1140-551 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

M. Olson, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

CONCESSION OPERATION BID AWARDS – VARIOUS FOOD & ACTIVITY 

 Report Prepared by: T. Abrahamson, Property Officer 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the City entering into a mobile food concession with Artisto Gelato to 
provide summer mobile food vending services at Stuart Park for a two (2) year term with two 
(2) one (1) year options to renew at the City’s sole discretion, in the form attached to the 
Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated May 2, 2016;  
 
AND THAT Council approves the City entering into a concession contract with Hot or Not 
Vending for three (3) downtown food vending locations at 266 Lawrence Avenue, 238 Leon 
Avenue and 275 Leon Avenue, to provide evening mobile food vending services for a three (3) 
year term with two (2) one (1) year options to renew at the City’s sole discretion, in the form 
attached to the Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated May 2, 2016; and 
 
AND THAT Council approves the City entering to an activity concession with Okanagan Beach 
Rentals to provide water activity concessions at Gyro Beach and Rotary Beach for a three (3) 
year term with two (2) one (1) year options to renew at the City’s sole discretion, in the form 
attached to the Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated May 2, 2016; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute all documents 
necessary to complete the contracts. 
 
Purpose:  
 
That Council endorse the award of food vendor contracts for Lawrence Avenue, Leon Avenue 
and Stuart Park; and a water activity concession contract for Gyro and Rotary Beaches.  
 
Background: 
 
Food and activity vending concessions have flourished in Kelowna in recent years and the 
successful conclusion of contracts awarded in 2010 and 2011 resulted in these opportunities 
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City Manager 
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becoming available for bid in 2016.  Continuing the momentum established under these 
contracts, the City opened the bid process for the following concession opportunities: 
 

Summer Mobile Food Concession 
     Stuart Park 
 

Evening Mobile Food Concessions  
    266 Lawrence Avenue; 238 Leon Avenue; 275 Leon Avenue 

 
 Activity Concessions 
     Gyro Beach; Rotary Beach 
 
The bidding opportunities were advertised on the City’s website, social media and local 
newspaper.  Subsequent to optional information meetings held March 9 and 15, 2016, bids 
were accepted and reviewed by a committee comprised of Parks staff and evaluated based on 
benefit to the community, experience and qualifications, quality of service being offered, and 
value to the City.   
 
Based on this criteria, the successful bidders were identified and are summarized below: 
 

Artisto Gelato – summer mobile food vending services at Stuart Park from May 15th to 
September 15th annually.  The vendor will focus on handcrafted locally sourced 
ingredients for offerings of gelato, sorbetto, and grilled paninis. 

 
Hot or Not Vending – annual evening mobile food vendor servicing three downtown 
locations on Leon and Lawrence Avenues from Wednesday to Saturday, 9pm to 2am.  
Offerings include wraps, perogies, all beef hot dogs and smokies. 
 
Okanagan Beach Rentals – summer water activity vendor servicing both Gyro and 
Rotary Beaches. Vendor will offer kayak, stand up paddleboard, peddle boat, aqua 
bike and canoe rentals.  In addition, the City will be providing a beach wheelchair for 
each beach which the vendor will loan, free of charge, to guests requiring wheelchair 
access to enjoy the lakeshore.    
 

Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
  
Stuart Park (summer) – Artisto Gelato 

 $5,000/year – 2-year total $10,000 

 Plus 5% of gross profits each year of the contract 
 
Downtown Evening Vendor – Hot or Not Vending 

 $8,100/year – 3-year total $24,300 

 Plus 5% of gross profits each year of the contract 
 
Gyro and Rotary Beaches – Okanagan Beach Rentals 

 $18,000/year – 3-year total $54,000 

 Plus 5% of gross profits each year of the contract 
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Internal Circulation: 
Parks Services Manager 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  M. Olson, Manager, Property Management 
 
Approved for inclusion:  D. Edstrom, Director, Real Estate 
 
Attachments: 1. Schedule A – Contract, Artisto Gelato 
  2. Schedule B – Contract, Hot or Not Vending 
  3. Schedule C – Contract, Okanagan Beach Rentals 
  4. Schedule D – PowerPoint 
 
cc:  I. Wilson, Parks Services Manager 
 J. Gabriel, Divisional Director, Active Living & Culture 
 G. Filafilo, Financial Projects Manager 
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2 0 1 6  C O N C E S S I O N  B I D  AWA R D S
Various – Food & Activity 
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STUART PARK  MOB ILE  FOOD  
CONCESS ION  B ID  DETA ILS

Operates from May 15th to Sept 15th

Two year term with a 1-year renewal option
Vehicle must be fully self-contained
Healthy food choices required
Contractor to provide annual financial reports 
to City Staff
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S T U A RT PA R K  C O N C E S S I O N  L O C AT I O N

Stuart Park Food Truck 
Concession
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ART ISTO GELATO

 Locally sourced ingredients 
 Gluten-free and non-GMO 
 Healthy food choices in line with Canada Food Guide
 Gelato, sorbetto, grilled paninis and beverages
Competitive bid: $5,000/ann (+5% gross)
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MOB ILE  FOOD  CONCESS ION  B ID  
DETA ILS

Evening downtown mobile food concessions
Operate evenings Weds to Sat, 9pm to 2am
Three year term with two 1-year renewal 
options
Healthy food choices required
Contractor to provide annual financial reports 
to City Staff
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DOWNTOWN LOCAT IONS
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HOT OR  NOT VEND ING

 Experienced operator – holds existing contract
 Offerings include wraps, perogies, all beef hot dogs 
and smokies
 Healthy food choices in line with Canada Food Guide
 Competitive bid: $8,100/ann (+5% gross)
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ACT IV ITY CONCESS ION  B ID  
DETA ILS

Activity concessions located at Gyro & 
Rotary Beach's
Non-motorized water activity concessions 
Operate from May 15th to Sept 15th

Three year term with two 1-year renewal 
options
Contractor to provide annual financial 
reports to City Staff
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A C T I V I T Y  C O N C E S S I O N  L O C AT I O N S

Rotary Beach Concession 
Location
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A C T I V I T Y  C O N C E S S I O N  L O C AT I O N S

Gyro Beach Concession 
Location
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O K A N A G A N  B E A C H  R E N TA L S

 Experienced operator;
 Held Rotary Beach contract for last 5 years
 Also held Gyro Beach contract in the past

 Offering to include;
 Kayaks, stand up paddleboads (SUP), peddle boats, 
aqua bike and canoe rentals and lessons.  
 City to provide beach wheelchairs

 Competitive bid: $18,000/ann (+5% gross)
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11210 

 

A Bylaw to Rename a Portion of Rutland Road North 
 
 
WHEREAS the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna deems it desirable for a portion of 
Rutland Road North to be renamed Rutland Court in the City of Kelowna; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna deems it desirable for an 
unnamed Road portion of road be named Rutland Road North in the City of Kelowna; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. THAT the name of a portion of Rutland Road North to be renamed Rutland Court as 

outlined in Map “A” attached to and forming part of this bylaw; 
 
2. AND THAT the unnamed Road portion of road be named Rutland Road North as 

outlined in Map “A” attached to and forming part of this bylaw; 
 
3. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Renaming a Portion of Rutland Road 

North to Rutland Court Name Change Bylaw No. 11210”. 
 
 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 25th day of April, 2016.  
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this    
 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk 
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Map “A”  
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11223 
 

Sterile Insect Release Program Parcel Tax Bylaw 2016 
 

 

A bylaw pursuant to Section 200 of the Community Charter to impose and levy a Parcel Tax upon 
the owners of land or real property within the City of Kelowna being served by the Sterile Insect 
Release Program. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting 
assembled, enacts as follows: 

 

1. A Parcel Tax shall be and is hereby imposed and levied upon the owners of land or real 
property as shown on Schedule "A" attached to and forming part of this bylaw, being served 
by the Sterile Insect Release Program. 
 

2. The Parcel Tax shall be levied for the 2016 tax year on each parcel of land aforementioned, 
and the amount of such Parcel Tax shall be One Hundred and Thirty-Nine Dollars and 
Twenty-Six Cents ($139.26) per assessed acre. 
 

3.  This bylaw shall be known for all purposes as the "Sterile Insect Release Program Parcel Tax 
Bylaw 2016 No. 11223”. 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 25th day of April, 2016.  
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 

 

 

 

 
 

Mayor 
 

 

 
 

City Clerk 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11227 
 

Five Year Financial Plan 2016-2020 
 

 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. Schedule "A" attached hereto and forming part of this bylaw is hereby declared to be 

the Five Year Financial Plan of the City of Kelowna for the period January 1st, 2016 to 
and including December 31st, 2020. 

 
2. Schedule “B” attached hereto and forming part of this bylaw is hereby declared to be 

the Statement of Objectives and Policies in accordance with Section 165 (3.1) of the 
Community Charter. 

 
3. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the "Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw, 2016-

2020, No. 11227". 
 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 25th day of April, 2016. 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this   
 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 
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Schedule “B” 
Statement of Objectives and Policies 

 
In accordance with Section 165(3.1) of the Community Charter, municipalities are required to 
include in the Five Year Financial Plan, objectives and policies regarding each of the following: 

(a) For each of the funding sources described in Section 165(7) of the Community Charter, 
the proportion of total revenue that is proposed to come from that funding source; 

(b) The distribution of property value taxes among the property classes that may be 
subject to taxes; and 

(c) The use of permissive tax exemptions. 
 
 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021-2030

REVENUE

PROPERTY VALUE TAX 119,879,430     126,418,833 133,163,297 139,873,658 146,621,819 1,793,646,313 

LIBRARY REQUISITION 5,756,024        5,888,413        6,023,846        6,162,394        6,304,130        71,592,421 

PARCEL TAXES 3,223,783        3,263,441        3,286,590        3,310,106        3,315,787        34,332,234 

FEES AND CHARGES 106,746,093     109,734,726     111,367,172     113,311,918     115,947,582     1,299,290,083 

BORROWING PROCEEDS 55,276,560       -                     -                     -                     -                     89,000,000 

OTHER SOURCES 62,694,808       52,235,708       45,043,983       52,334,027       50,601,845       570,088,175 

353,576,698     297,541,121     298,884,887.43 314,992,103.06 322,791,163.99 3,857,949,226  

TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS

RESERVE FUNDS 3,426,636        2,231,501        2,231,303        2,231,094        1,631,594        13,341,983 

DCC FUNDS 13,119,310       19,154,057       21,400,501       21,053,485       31,223,270       163,065,700 

SURPLUS/RESERVE ACCOUNTS 102,079,775     56,433,187       57,312,956       36,826,288       56,966,588       264,442,430 

118,625,721     77,818,744       80,944,760       60,110,867       89,821,452       440,850,113     

TOTAL REVENUE 472,202,419     375,359,865     379,829,648     375,102,970     412,612,616     4,298,799,338  

EXPENDITURES

MUNICIPAL DEBT

DEBT INTEREST 11,664,060       12,238,919       12,214,879       8,853,533        7,662,060        66,518,128       

DEBT PRINCIPAL 13,498,254       13,391,604       14,699,076       11,565,938       8,463,806        64,128,675       

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 190,827,480     91,589,675       88,270,800       74,820,189       109,768,109     826,484,594     

OTHER MUNICIPAL PURPOSES

GENERAL GOVERNMENT 27,170,244       27,711,268       28,594,708       29,466,037       30,327,549       328,757,898     

PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & 

BUILDING SERVICES 24,216,452       22,678,943       23,952,392       24,779,277       25,647,455       275,606,795     

COMMUNITY SERVICES 79,025,868       79,657,865       81,936,252       84,647,345       87,606,264       1,056,070,646  

PROTECTIVE SERVICES 51,283,115       54,584,686       57,528,149       60,542,825       64,195,225       783,164,488     

UTILITIES 19,375,599       19,908,841       20,575,440       21,110,667       21,687,027       251,344,398     

AIRPORT 12,684,609       12,902,556       13,418,237       13,882,225       14,364,189       172,458,732     

429,745,681     334,664,357     341,189,934     329,668,038     369,721,685     3,824,534,354  

TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS

RESERVE FUNDS 15,626,706 16,693,234       16,761,320       16,693,383       16,613,357       160,787,118     

DCC FUNDS -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

SURPLUS/RESERVE ACCOUNTS 26,830,032 24,002,274       21,878,394       28,741,549       26,277,573       313,477,866     

42,456,738 40,695,509 38,639,714 45,434,932 42,890,930 474,264,985 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 472,202,419 375,359,865 379,829,648 375,102,970 412,612,616 4,298,799,338 

Schedule A

Financial Plan 2016 - 2020
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Funding Sources 
Table 1 shows the proportion of total revenue proposed to be raised from each funding source 
in 2016.  Property taxes and fees and charges are two of the largest sources of revenue.  Both 
have advantages in that they are stable, relatively simple to administer and are generally 
understood by citizens.  The City of Kelowna also utilizes funds from reserves and surplus as 
another main source of financial support.  Reserve funds are closely managed to ensure and 
protect the current and future financial viability of the municipality. Other sources of revenue 
may be variable and fluctuate from year to year depending on the economic influences and 
capital programs undertaken by the City. 
 
Objectives 

 Investigate other potential funding sources and securing opportunities for additional 
revenues. 

 Begin to decrease the municipality’s reliance on property taxes and explore 
opportunities to increase the percent of total revenue received from user fees and 
charges and senior government grants.   

 Maintain a fees and charges structure whereby increases are applied on a regular basis 
in line with inflation, while ensuring that service levels remain competitive and 
affordable. 

 
Policies 

 Pursue non-property tax revenues whenever possible through applying for government 
grants and charging user fees at appropriate levels. 

 Perform regular reviews of revenue generating areas for appropriate application of rate 
increases.   
o Planning and Development Fees. 
o Recreation & Cultural Services – application of BC Consumer Price Index. 
o Utility Revenues – ensure Utilities operate as self-supporting enterprise funds. 

 Increase provincial and federal grant revenue through maximum utilization of the City’s 
Grant Manager position. 

 
Table 1: Sources of Revenue  
 

Revenue Source Revenue $ (000’s) % of Revenue 

Property Value Tax 119,879 25% 

Library Requisition    5,756 1% 

Parcel Taxes    3,224 1% 

Fees & Charges 106,746 22% 

Borrowing Proceeds  55,276 12% 

Other Sources  62,695 14% 

Reserve Funds/Accounts 118,626 25% 

       Total 472,202 100% 

 
 
Distribution of Property Tax Rates 
 
Table 2 outlines the council approved municipal tax distribution policy for 2016 and the 
relative proportion of tax revenues.  Projected revenues from the combined residential, 
recreational and Non-Profit classes, provides the largest proportion of property tax revenue.  
This cumulative class represents the largest tax assessment base and hence utilizes the 
majority of City services. 
 
Objectives 

 Provide an effective tax change that is the same for all property classes. 
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 Ensure that business and light industry property tax ratios remain below the average of 
BC municipalities with populations greater than 75,000. 

 Allow for a maximum ratio cap of 3.00:1 for the Light Industrial/Business class.  
 
Policies 

 Council will annually review and modify tax class ratios to provide an effective tax 
change that is the same for all classes. 

 The impacts on other property classes from administering a ratio cap on the Light 
Industrial/Business classes will be reported to Council during the annual Tax 
Distribution Policy review. 

 Regularly review and compare the City’s relative position in terms of distribution of 
taxes to other similarly sized municipalities in British Columbia. 

 
Table 2: Tax Class Ratios and Projected Revenues 

Property 
Class 

Description 2016 Tax Class 
Ratios 

Tax Revenue 
(000’s) 

2015 Tax Class 
Ratios 

01/08/03 Res/Rec/NP/SH 1.0000:1 83,499 1.0000:1 

02 Utilities 5.0458:1 511 5.1296:1 

04 Major Industrial 3.7328:1 386 3.4822:1 

05/06 Light Ind/Bus/Other 2.1934:1 34,972 2.1307:1 

09 Farm Land 0.1275:1 10 0.1244:1 

91 Farm Improvements 0.4801:1 501 0.4882:1 

    Total Revenues  119,879  

 
 
 
 
Permissive Tax Exemptions  
  
The City has an existing permissive tax exemption policy which guides the administration and 
approval of permissive tax exemptions. Some of the eligibility criteria for permissive tax 
exemptions that are outlined in the policy include the following: 

 The applicant must qualify for an exemption under the provisions of the Community 
Charter. 

 The organization receiving an exemption must be a registered non-profit society or 
registered charity, as the support of the municipality will not be used for commercial 
and private gain. 

 The tax exemption must demonstrate benefit to the community and residents of the 
City by enhancing the quality of life (spiritually, educationally, socially and culturally), 
while delivering services economically to the citizens within the community. 

 
The value of tax exemptions provided by Council for 2016 (based on 2015 assessment totals and 
tax rates) is $1,929,523. The following breaks down the total into various exemption categories 
and the exemption value for the category: 
 
Places of Worship - $280,318 
Private schools - $159,177 
Hospitals - $ 15,789 
Special Needs Housing - $55,630 
Social Services - $187,011 
Public Park, Athletic or Recreational - $440,681 
Cultural - $315,652 
Partnering, Heritage or Other Special Exemptions Authority - $333,573 
Revitalization - $141,692 
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In order to encourage the restoration and preservation of commercial, industrial and 
institutional building, properties that meet the criteria outlined in the Heritage Building Tax 
Incentive Program policy can receive a tax exemption. 
 
The establishment of the Revitalization Tax Exemption policy allows qualifying properties 
within the Downtown Urban Centre and Rutland Urban Centre areas to receive a tax 
exemption. 
 
Objectives 

 Continue to provide permissive tax exemptions to support qualifying organizations that 
improve the well-being of the community. 

 The municipality will continue to provide heritage and revitalization tax exemptions for 
qualifying properties. 

 
Policies 

 Permissive tax exemptions will be considered to encourage activities that:  (a) are 
consistent with the quality of life objectives of the municipality; (b) provide direct 
access and benefit to the public; and (c) would otherwise be provided by the 
municipality. 

 To meet the city’s commitment to the ongoing restoration, preservation and 
maintenance of buildings and structures on its Heritage Register, eligible properties 
will be considered for a tax exemption. 

 To support the city’s revitalization program of the Downtown Urban Centre and Rutland 
Urban Centre, qualifying properties will be considered for a tax exemption. 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11228 
 

Tax Structure Bylaw, 2016 
 

 
WHEREAS the Letters Patent of the City of Kelowna provide that the municipality may be 
divided into two (2) or more taxation areas by bylaw adopted prior to the adoption of the 
Annual Budget Bylaw; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. Taxation Area 1 
 
 All lands and improvement thereon classified for assessment purposes as “Farm”. 
 
2. Taxation Area 2 
 
 All lands and improvements thereon not included in Taxation Area 1. 
 
3. This bylaw shall be applicable for the 2016 taxation year. 
 
4. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Tax Structure Bylaw, 2016 No. 11228”. 
 
 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 25th day of April, 2016.  
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this   
 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11229 
 

Annual Tax Rates Bylaw, 2016 
 
 
WHEREAS the Letters Patent dated the Twenty-fifth day of April, 1973 for the City of Kelowna 
provides for differing levels of taxation taking into consideration the extent of level of 
services being provided to different areas within the municipality. 
 
The Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. The following rates are hereby imposed and levied for the taxation year 2016: 
 
 (a) For all lawful General purposes of the municipality on the assessed value of 

land and improvements taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing 
in column "A" of Schedule 1 of this Bylaw; 

 
 (b) For Debt purposes on the assessed value of land and improvements taxable for 

general municipal purposes, rates appearing in column "B" of Schedule 1 of this 
Bylaw; 

 
           (c) For purposes of the Okanagan Regional Library on the assessed value of land 

and improvements taxable for Regional Library purposes, rates appearing in 
column “C” of Schedule 1 of this Bylaw; 

 
 (d) For Hospital purposes on the assessed value of land and improvements taxable 

for Regional Hospital District purposes, rates appearing in column "D" of 
Schedule 1 of this Bylaw; 

 
 (e) For purposes of the Regional District of Central Okanagan on the assessed value 

of land and improvements taxable for Regional District purposes, rates 
appearing in column "E" of Schedule 1 of this Bylaw; 

 
 (f) For purposes of the Regional District of Central Okanagan on the assessed value 

of land only for the Regional District of Central Okanagan Sterile Insect Release 
Program, rates appearing in column “F” of Schedule 1 of this Bylaw; and 

 
 (g) For Local Service Area purposes on the assessed value of land and 

improvements taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing in 
columns "A" and “B” of Schedule 2 of this Bylaw. 

 
2. This bylaw may be cited as "Annual Tax Rates Bylaw, 2016 No. 11229”. 
 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 25th day of April, 2016.  
   
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this   
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 

 
City Clerk 
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Bylaw No. 11229– Page 2 
 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

GENERAL MUNICIPAL, DEBT, HOSPITAL AND REGIONAL DISTRICT 
TAX RATES - 2016 

 

  
TAX RATES (DOLLAR OF TAX PER $1,000 TAXABLE VALUE) 

TAXABLE 
LAND ONLY 

  
A B C D E F 

PROPERTY CLASS 
GENERAL 

MUNICIPAL DEBT LIBRARY 

REGIONAL 
HOSPITAL 
DISTRICT 

REGIONAL 
DISTRICT 

REGIONAL 
DISTRICT 

SIR 

01 Residential 3.5607 0.1507 0.1778 0.3345 0.3114 0.0425 

02 Utilities 17.9668 0.7604 0.8973 1.1708 1.0900 0.1488 

03 Supportive Housing 3.5607 0.1507 0.1778 0.3345 0.3114 0.0425 

04 Major Industrial 13.2915 0.5625 0.6638 1.1373 1.0588 0.1446 

05 Light Industrial 7.8101 0.3305 0.3900 1.1373 1.0588 0.1446 

06 Business/Other 7.8101 0.3305 0.3900 0.8196 0.7630 0.1042 

08 Recreation/Non-Profit 3.5607 0.1507 0.1778 0.3345 0.3114 0.0425 

09 Farm:             

    a) Land 0.4586 0.0192 0.0222 0.3345 0.3114 0.0425 

    b) Improvements 1.7096 0.0723 0.0854 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 
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Bylaw No. 11229– Page 3 
 

SCHEDULE 2 
 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

2016 LOCAL SERVICE AREA TAX RATES 
 

PROPERTY CLASS 

A 
 

DOWNTOWN 
BUSINESS 

IMPROVEMENT  
AREA 

B 
 

UPTOWN RUTLAND 
BUSINESS 

IMPROVEMENT AREA 

1. RESIDENTIAL 0 0 

2. UTILITY 0 0 

4. INDUSTRIAL – 
MAJOR 

5 

0 0 

5. INDUSTRIAL –  
LIGHT 

1.5072 1.2941 

6. BUSINESS 1.5072 1.2941 

7. TREE FARM 0 0 

8. SEASONAL 0 0 

9. FARM 
a) LAND 

 
 b) IMPROVEMENT 
 

 
0 
 
0 

 
0 
 
0 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11230 
 

Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw, 
2016 

 
 
WHEREAS, there is an unappropriated balance in the Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund 
established under Bylaw No. 7112, which has most recently been replaced by Bylaw No. 
11085, of Fourteen Million, Four Hundred and Sixty Two Thousand, Five Hundred and Forty 
One dollars ($ 14,462,541.00) as at March 31st, 2016. 
 
AND WHEREAS, it is deemed desirable to expend a portion of the monies set aside under said 
Bylaw No. 7112, which has most recently been replaced by Bylaw No. 11085, for the purpose 
of utility, road and land improvement and additions; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. The sum of Fourteen Million, Four Hundred and Sixty Two Thousand, Five Hundred and 

Forty One dollars ($ 14,462,541.00) is hereby appropriated from the Development Cost 
Charge Reserve Fund to be expended in 2016 for the following purposes: 

   
  Land for Park Purposes $ 493,024.00 
  Road Construction $ 6,345,055.00 
  Water Mains, Pump Stations & Reservoir Construction $ 984,749.00 
  Wastewater Trunks, Plant & Debt Repayment $ 6,639,713.00 
        
   $ 14,462,541.00 
 
2. The expenditure to be carried out by the monies hereby appropriated shall be more 

particularly specified and authorized by resolution of Council. 
 
3. Should any of the above remain unexpended after the expenditures hereby authorized 

have been made, the unexpended balance shall be returned to the credit of the 
Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund. 

 
4. This bylaw may be cited as the "Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund Expenditure 

Bylaw, 2016, No. 11230. 
 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 25th day of April, 2016.  
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this   
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 

 
City Clerk 
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CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11231 
 

Sale of City-Owned Land Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw, 
2016 

 

 
WHEREAS, there is an unappropriated balance in the Sale of City-Owned Land Reserve Fund of 
Seven Million, Ninety Three Thousand, Seven Hundred and Fifty Four Dollars ($7,093,754) as 
at January 1st , 2016.  
 
AND WHEREAS, it is deemed desirable to expend a portion of the monies set aside under said 
Sale of City-Owned Land Reserve Fund for the purpose of land purchases and enhancements 
set out below; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 

1. The sum of One Million, Nine Hundred Seven Thousand, Five Hundred and Twenty 
Dollars ($1,907,520.00)  as at January 1st, 2016 is hereby appropriated from the Sale of 
City-Owned Land Reserve Fund to be expended in 2016 for the following purposes: 

 
 
   General Land       $ 1,590,120.00 
 Parks Land $ 317,400.00 
  
   
  $ 1,907,520.00 
 
2. The expenditure to be carried out by the monies hereby appropriated shall be more 

particularly specified and authorized by resolution of Council. 
 
3. Should any of the above remain unexpended after the expenditures hereby authorized 

have been made, the unexpended balance shall be returned to the credit of the City-
Owned Land Reserve Fund. 

 
4. This bylaw may be cited as the "Sale of City-Owned Land Reserve Fund Expenditure 

Bylaw, 2016, No. 11231. 
 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 25th day of April, 2016. 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this   
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk 
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